



The performance of macro cellular networks operating in American TV white space

Master's Thesis in Complex Adaptive Systems

TOM BAYLIS

Division of Communication Systems, Information Theory and Antennas Department of Signals and Systems Chalmers University of Technology Gothenburg, Sweden 2013 Master's Thesis EX006/2013

Abstract

Secondary access to white space in the US TV spectrum is a mechanism/practice to provide spectrum for mobile broadband communication. The FCC's rules governing white space in the US are evaluated for a mobile broadband system using LTE system-level simulations. Promising link capacity estimates exist for US white space, although there is a need for more detailed simulations to compare with studies of European white space. This thesis determines the TV transmitter's total interference power, spread over the US and considering each available channel, where after mobile broadband performance can be evaluated in different use-cases with different channel selection criteria. TV transmitter data provided from a proprietary Ericsson database, SPLAT's implementation of the irregular terrain model and Monte-Carlo simulations are used to determine the TV interference power. Mobile broadband performance is then evaluated using an internal Ericsson LTE simulator with the FCC's rules accounted for. Available white space is found to be quite high, but the usability is limited by the use-case and the channel selection criteria. A mobile broadband system, based on LTE, deployed in TV white space would not provide sufficient coverage if typical site densities were used. Opportunistic traffic offloading from an existing network looks more promising and could in some regions provide significant capacity boosts. The US population is concentrated in certain regions, and the usefulness of the available channels at a certain location must be assessed with the population distribution in mind.

May contain nuts.

Acknowledgements

This master's thesis has been done at Ericsson Research in Kista, Stockholm. During my work I've received help, suggestions and ideas from many people on the eighth floor corridor of building 30, and I'm very grateful. Tim Irnich, Torsten Dudda and Tim Schmitz at Ericsson in Aachen have provided good ideas and fruitful discussions, thanks to their work on TV white space in Germany. I'd also especially like to thank my supervisors Jonas Kronander, Jörgen Karlsson and Reihaneh Malekafzaliardakani at Ericsson for providing guidance, motivation and good discussions. I'm also grateful to Mohammad Reza Gholami and Giuseppe Durisi at Chalmers for their supervision and examination of this thesis.

> Tom Baylis, Kista February 14, 2013

Contents

1	Introduction 1						
	1.1	Purpose	3				
	1.2	Delimitations	3				
	1.3	Outline	4				
	1.4	Data sources	5				
2	Background						
	2.1	Radio propagation	8				
		2.1.1 Basic models	9				
		2.1.2 Phenomenological models	10				
		2.1.3 The irregular terrain model	10				
	2.2	SPLAT and its modification	12				
	2.3	Broadcast TV	13				
	2.4	White space	16				
		2.4.1 The Federal Communications Commission's rules	17				
	2.5	Cellular Networks and LTE	19				
		2.5.1 Evaluating network performance	22				
3	White space assessment20						
	3.1	TV coverage assessment	27				
	3.2	Assessing TV interference levels and protection regions	30				
		3.2.1 Aggregation of received TV signals	31				
		3.2.2 Link capacity estimates	34				
	3.3	Cellular network capacity estimation	35				
		3.3.1 Population density based deployment	36				
		3.3.2 A standalone macro cellular network	37				
		3.3.3 An offloading enabled network	38				
		3.3.4 The LTE simulator	39				
		3.3.5 Interference power binning	42				

4	Results	44			
	4.1 TV coverage assessment	. 45			
	4.2 TV interference levels and the available white space	. 47			
	4.2.1 The estimated link capacity	. 48			
	4.3 Performance of the cellular network	. 50			
	4.3.1 Standalone network deployment	. 52			
	4.3.2 Offloading network	. 54			
5	5 Discussion & Conclusions				
	5.1 What have we learnt?	. 59			
	5.1.1 New York & New Jersey	. 62			
	5.2 Conclusions	. 64			
	5.3 Outlook and future work	. 65			
References					
A	A FCC tables				
В	B Propagation model comparison				
C	C The maximum interference distance				
D	D Determining the sum of log-normal random variables				
E	E Interference power-height correlation				

Introduction

The global mobile data traffic is growing at a terrific rate. Ericsson's 2012 traffic mobility report predicts that monthly global traffic will increase from 1.1 EB to 13 EB¹ in the period from 2012 to 2018 [1, p. 10-11]. Cisco's traffic forecast predicts that mobile data will exceed 10 EB in 2016, increasing roughly 18 times from 2011 to 2016 [2]. This growth is sometimes seen as an explosion of traffic demand [3, p. 1] or a tsunami of wireless data use [4].

This increased demand for wireless data requires a larger portion of the frequency spectrum or more efficient use of it. The Federal Communications Commission (FCC), responsible for licensing and regulating the US spectrum, have filled frequency allocation charts [5], with few holes for further use. Redistribution of allocated frequencies and schemes for spectrum sharing are appropriate and needed. Even after the digital dividend was finalised [6] and the FCC's white space rules introduced, president Obama instructed the FCC to continue improving spectrum usage and open up more underutilised spectrum [7].

Spectrum is traditionally allocated to *primary users*, service providers who license a frequency block for exclusive use. A *secondary user* can utilise a frequency block at certain times and locations, under the condition that the *primary user* retains their level of service. A secondary use of spectrum can be realised in many

¹1 EB (exabyte) is 1000 million (10^9) gigabytes.

different ways, either by being geographically or temporally separated from the primary user, or by transmitting with a low power at short range, thus limiting harmful interference to the primary user's system.

White space Spectrum which can be used by secondary users is labelled *white space*. Primary users' exclusive rights to their spectrum are being changed to allow for white space usage while protecting the primary service. The Electronic Communications Committee, part of the European Conference of Postal and Telecommunications Administrations, published a report defining rules for white space use in the TV spectrum [8]. This framework has been assessed for Germany, and the results presented at IEEE DySPAN [9, 10]. The FCC published TV white space rules in 2008 [11] which will be the main topic of this thesis.

Previous work Mishra and Sahai take the FCC's rules and estimate the amount of available white space in the US [12]. Harrison, Mishra, and Sahai made bandwidth estimates in the available white space [13] thus indicating the total capacity of a system operating in white space.

The QUASAR² project [14] suggests some different uses of white space. These included among others *cellular use of white space*, *WiFi-like use of white space* and *secondary wireless backhaul* which are of interest for this thesis.

Gamarra [3] has considered secondary usage scenarios in the aeronautical band 960 – 1215 MHz. Her licentiate thesis studied both the requirements for secondary access, and designed a method to assess the availability, modelling adjacent channel interference. She also proposed an indoor model for short range white space utilisation within a broadcast system which was experimentally tested [3].

The Federal Communication Commission's rules The 2008 rules, enabling the use of TV white space [11] allow secondary users to reuse the frequencies from TV broadcasters when outside a certain distance from the broadcast locations. The TV broadcast system uses frequencies between 54 MHz to 698 MHz, and is covered in more detail in section 2.3. Different services operating within the

²Project website: http://www.quasarspectrum.eu

frequency range, not part of the TV broadcast system still need protection from secondary users' signals. These services include radio astronomy observatories and the TV transmitters across the borders to Canada and Mexico. This thesis considers the latest version of the FCC's rules, including the updates and amendments from 2010 and 2012 [15, 16].

The FCC's rules rely on databases, accessible to secondary users which list protected services and their locations. A device can then poll the database with its location and receive a list of channels available for use. In 2011 Spectrum Bridge Inc. [17], and in 2012 Telcordia [18] were granted the permission to operate "TV bands database systems". These are often referred to as geo-location TVWS databases.

1.1 Purpose

The purpose of this thesis is to evaluate the realisable capacity of TV white space for use in a macro cellular system in the US. The FCC's rules will be evaluated to find the number of available channels. The interference from the TV transmitters will then be calculated to estimate the channel quality. Finally system level LTE simulations will be performed, where the capacity of a LTE network, deployed in the usable white space will be measured and compared to a reference system.

Two deployment use-cases for the macro LTE system will be considered, a *standalone cellular network* operating in white space, and an *offloading* WiFi-like usecase where the white space deployed network is used for capacity boosting.

1.2 Delimitations

The analysis is limited to the 48 contiguous American states between Canada and Mexico, thus excluding Alaska and Hawaii. TV transmitters within the US and along the Canadian and Mexican borders are considered.

The number of protected services is limited to the TV transmitters themselves, radio astronomy observatories and the Canadian and Mexican border regions.

TV translator sites and cable head ends receive the TV signal on one channel, and can be located outside the service contour of the signal source. Extra protection is thus needed to ensure that secondary users do not interfere with TV reception. There are no publicly available protection contours, so this protection has been excluded in this analysis.

The coarseness of the chosen pixels, roughly 10 by 10 km will be reflected in the detail of the final analysis. Available white space will reflect the general country wide availability and not so much specific locations with any certainty.

1.3 Outline

The thesis is split into three main threads; the TV coverage, the aggregate interference levels with the channel availability, and the performance of the LTE system.

The second chapter, *Background*, introduces different propagation models used in the TV coverage assessment and the simulator SPLAT's implementation of them. White space is then defined, and put into the TV context by the FCC's rules. Finally the chapter introduces basic theory of cellular networks and investigates approaches for evaluating the performance of the system.

The *White space assessment* chapter goes into more implementation-technical details of the simulations, thus describing the method. TV coverage calculations are defined on a grid, and the propagation model's parameters are noted. The FCC's rules are then applied to the TV coverage grid and a Monte Carlo method for determining the aggregate interference level is discussed. A side step is made, to make link capacity estimates, these are then compared and validated with external results. Finally the implementation of the LTE simulator is discussed together with the cellular network use-cases.

Results are presented in chapter 4, following the threaded style. First the TV coverage from an example transmitter is shown and the field strength calculated by SPLAT is compared to other models. TV interference power distributions are presented indicating the amount of available white space and its quality. The performance of the LTE network is presented, with its performance indicators

and possible channel selection criteria.

The fifth chapter, *Discussion* will deliberate and compare the results from chapter 4 with previous work. Possible alternative scenarios will be introduced and presented for possible future work.

Conclusively, the bibliography and appendices end the thesis. The appendix contains some tables and important motivations which have been omitted from the main text to improve clarity and readability.

1.4 Data sources

This thesis uses a number of different databases and data sets. Their connections and use are depicted in figure 1.2 together with the major computational and simulation steps. The data used has been made available at different dates, which sometimes leads to smaller inconsistencies. These problems are noted in the text when they occur.

The TV transmitter database is provided by Ericsson, and is a proprietary set of transmitters valid for the 20th of April 2012. Transmitters in neighbouring Mexico and Canada are included along the border regions, and out of the 9392 listed transmitters 8239 are in the US. Each transmitter has a designated service type; digital TV, class A digital TV, low power digital TV and translator sites, there are also 320 analogue class A transmitters in the database, and the distribution is shown in figure 1.1. Translator sites receive a different transmitter's signal and relay or repeat it over a new area, possibly also on a different channel. The majority of the transmitters use a digital signal, and this thesis assumes that all transmitters are digital.

The TV transmitter's service contours are retrieved from the FCC's website [19]. Each contour is identified by a label, available in Ericsson's transmitter database, enabling the merging of the two datasets. These service contours are defined by 360 latitude and longitude pairs for each transmitter and their use will be discussed further in section 2.3 where the TV broadcast system is detailed.

The Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (SRTM), was an international project



Figure 1.1: Ericsson's TV transmitter database contains transmitter data from Mexico, Canada and the United States. The US transmitters are divided into 5 major service types. Low power digital (LD), digital TV (DT) and translator (TX) transmitters encompass the majority of the entries. Class A digital transmitters (DC), the small number of distributed digital transmitters (DD) and the remaining analogue class A (CA) transmitters are assumed to provide coverage and interference in similar ways to the other digital transmitters.

lead by the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) and the National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency (NGA) which resulted in a high resolution topographic database. It is the source for the terrain elevation data needed in the TV coverage predictions. The eleven day mission created a high resolution topographic database of the Earth [20]. It covers nearly all the landmass between 60° North and 60° South with a resolution of 3-arc seconds, corresponding to roughly 90 m [21].

The US population density is used to plan the LTE deployment. It is retrieved from the 2010 Census Gazetteer, where the population density [22] and the cartographic shape [23] of the counties are provided.



Figure 1.2: Connections between different data sources are shown with intermediate results. Ericsson's transmitter database, terrain data from the shuttle radar topography mission, the FCC's service contours and the US population density are shown in orange. SPLAT simulations, the TV power aggregation to determine the total interference and the LTE simulations are shown as black, rectangular boxes. Intermediate maps and graphs show caricatures of typical output in the various stages. The final statistics box is where the results from the two use-cases are sorted, selected and characterised.

2

Background

This chapter introduces the theory of radio propagation and the simulation software used in the TV coverage assessment. The US TV broadcast system is discussed with some of its basic deployment ideas. White space will be more formally defined and the FCC's rules for secondary access of the TV broadcast spectrum discussed. Finally some cellular network theory will be introduced together with ideas on how to evaluate the network performance.

2.1 Radio propagation

Radio signals are electromagnetic waves with frequencies ranging from 3 kHz to 300 GHz. Very high frequencies (VHF) 30 - 300 MHz and ultra high frequencies (UHF) 300 - 3000 MHz are of interest for this thesis [24]. The range contains the FM radio band 88 - 108 MHz [25], the GSM-850 and GSM-900 bands [26, p. 9-10] and the TV frequency channels.

In describing the propagation of radio signals one could, in theory use Maxwell's equations and solve the partial differential equations in the regions of interest [27]. This approach poses a number of problems, the position of the transmitter and receiver must be known with an accuracy comparable the wavelength of the signal as must the positions of reflecting surfaces and obstructions. Since analytical solutions to the equations are limited to highly special cases; numerical methods could be appropriate.

The propagation of radio signals is instead determined by simplified statistical models. These simplifications take different effects into account such as reflection, diffraction and scattering [28, p. 25]. When considering one transmitter and one receiver, or two antennas in general the electromagnetic wave can be decomposed into a direct wave, following the straight path and indirect waves which are reflected or diffracted but end up at the receiver.

Fresnel zones are also important, these are ellipsoidal volumes surrounding the path between transmitter and receiver [29, p. 485]. Reflective obstacles inside the Fresnel zones will produce out of phase reflections which interfere at the receiver antenna. The first Fresnel zone contains the highest power signals, and to maximise received power the number of obstructions inside it should be minimised [29, p. 488]. A rule-of-thumb for good propagation conditions, says that 60 % of the first Fresnel zone must be clear of obstacles.

2.1.1 Basic models

Free space propagation is the simplest propagation model. The power of the electromagnetic wave is proportional to the inverse square of the distance from a point source [28, p. 32]. The power loss in dB, *L*_{FS} is given by

$$L_{\rm FS} = 20 \, \log_{10} 4 \,\pi + 20 \, \log_{10} \frac{r \, f}{c} \tag{2.1}$$

where *f* is the frequency in H*z*, *r* the distance from the source in meters and *c* the speed of light in meters per second.

The *plane earth propagation model* takes two path propagation into account, thus considering one direct wave and one ground-reflected wave [28, p. 36]. It is appropriate to use when the difference in path length between the direct wave and the ground reflected wave is much smaller than the distance between the two antennas [28, p. 36]. The source height h_t and receiver height h_r , both in meters are considered and the ground seen as perfectly reflecting mirror. Path

loss in dB is then predicted by

$$L_{PE} = 20 \, \log_{10} \frac{r^2}{h_t \, h_r},\tag{2.2}$$

where again *r* is the distance in meters between transmitter and receiver.

2.1.2 Phenomenological models

Theoretical models indicate that the path loss increases with some power of the distance and different corrective terms are added depending on frequency, antenna heights and the intermediate terrain. Even though more advanced theoretical models exist it is common to make parameter fits to (2.3). A phenomenological model for path loss L, can be expressed in the form

$$L = A + B \log_{10} r + C \log_{10} f + D \tag{2.3}$$

where *r* is the distance between transmitter and receiver, *f* the frequency of the signal and *A*, *B*, *C* and *D* parameters determined by the model. *A*, *B* and *C* are recognisable from the free space model, and the *D*-term is used for small corrections.

The Okumura-Hata model [30], the Wireless World Initiative New Radio (WIN-NER II) model [31] and the International Telecommunication Union's (ITU) recommendation in P.1546-4 [32] are examples of models which follow the form of equation (2.3). Parameters and their applicable ranges for the different models are described in the references[30–32], which also describe how different side cases should be handled.

2.1.3 The irregular terrain model

The irregular terrain model, often called the Longley-Rice model, was developed to predict long term median transmission loss over irregular terrain [33]. Rice et al. note that the attenuation of a signal measured over the same distance, but different paths and times can vary up to 100 dB [34]. This motivates a statistical approach which takes the terrain and atmospheric effects into account.



Figure 2.1: Irregular terrain geometry, where the transmitter and receiver lie behind mountains. The sea level, grey and dashed is shown below the thicker black terrain. Radio paths are shown as thick grey lines from the transmitter and receiver, which have their horizons marked with grey dashed lines. The angles between the radio path and horizon, the height and distance of the most significant mountain peaks and the angle between the two radio paths are all used by the irregular terrain model. Adapted from [34].

A terrain profile is used to determine obstructions, such as mountains or hills along the path and indicates which propagation effects to take into account. When the transmitter and receiver are within "radio" line-of-sight, two-ray optics determines the attenuation. But when the path is broken by one or more horizons different diffraction or forward scattering theories are applied [34]. In cases when it is unclear which propagation type is dominant, the effects from both methods are combined.

Attenuation also varies in time, and this is attributed to changes in the atmosphere. Different temperatures, levels of humidity and clouds must be included in the statistical interpretation of the propagation loss [34]. The computer model proposed by Longley and Rice [33] uses a radio climate parameter to signify the general characteristics. Parameters needed for the computer model are shown in table 2.1, together with some typical values.

The National Telecommunications & Information Administration's (NTIA) Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS) developed and published an implementation of the irregular terrain model [35] based on the technical report by Longley and Rice from 1968. Hufford detailed updates of the implementation in a memorandum from 1985, and some smaller changes have thereafter been done in June 2007.

TV transmitter coverage in this thesis is calculated with the irregular terrain model from the National Telecommunications & Information Administration's

Parameter	Value	Comment
Relative Permittivity	15.0	Average ground [39]
Earth Conductivity	0.005	S/m^a for average ground [39]
Radio Climate	5	Continental Temperate ^b
Polarization	Vertical	
Time Variability	0.5	
Location Variability	0.5	

Table 2.1: Longley-Rice parameters used when running SPLAT.

^{*a*}Siemens/meter

^bSee SPLAT manual [39] for further information

(NTIA) Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS). It is part of the SPLAT software package, together with an alternative model Shumate [37] developed. The two implementations are compared in appendix B, showing significant differences over flat terrain. Model choice and the consequences will be discussed in the results and the final discussion.

2.2 SPLAT and its modification

SPLAT (Signal Propagation, Loss And Terrain) is an open source signal propagation calculator [38]. It works as a wraparound program for either the irregular terrain model from the Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS) or Shumate's irregular terrain with obstructions model to determine the field strength or path loss from a certain transmitter at a certain location. The software is written by Magliacane and released under the terms of the GNU General Public License Version 2.

SPLAT's main functionality is loading the terrain profile between the transmitter and receiver, and then calculating the path loss according to the propagation model. The loss depends on the terrain, earth conductivity, atmospheric effects and different diffraction effects in the propagation, as described by the Longley-Rice model. The transmit power and antenna directivity is then added producing the received field strength.

A modified version of SPLAT is used in this thesis. It enables multiple transmit-

ters and receiver-locations to be supplied in batches and the point to point analysis is run between each transmitter and receiver-location. Dudda added this extra functionality during work on his master's thesis [9]. The memory management is also modified, so that more terrain data can be loaded at the same time.

2.3 Broadcast TV

The TV broadcast system in the US is governed by regulations set up by the FCC [40]. This thesis focuses on the radio frequencies and coverage areas of the transmitters. The frequency range used in broadcast TV is split into 6 MHz channel-blocks and numbered from 2 to 69 [40, §73.601 – §73.603], the exact frequency of each channel is shown in table A.1 of appendix A.

Channels 3 and 4 are often used by Video Cassette Recording (VCR) devices and Digital Versatile Disc (DVD) devices to modulate their output signals before passing them to the TV [11, C §149]. The FCC's own engineers noted that TV receivers seem extra susceptible to interference on these channels [11, C §149]. Channel 37 is reserved for radio astronomy and remote patient monitoring using Wireless Medical Telemetry Services [41]. Consequently there are no TV transmitters operating on this channel.

Each broadcast tower has a designated channel registered with the FCC, and the antennas are generally placed on high masts and transmit with high power. The antenna heights in Ericsson's database are measured from the average sea level, ranging from 5 m to 5137 m^1 . The effective radiated power, which takes antenna gain and other pre-amplifications into account ranges from 1 kW to 3.9 MW with a median of 2 kW.

Coverage is optimised and interference is reduced by assigning different trans-

¹Antenna height must be considered together with the site elevation and the surrounding terrain. A low antenna on a high mountain is more efficient than an antenna located at the bottom of a valley.

Antenna *height above average terrain* (HAAT) is determined by calculating the average altitude of 50 points from the surrounding terrain, located on eight evenly spaced radials at 3-16 km from the transmitter site. The difference between the site elevation and the average terrain elevation is added to the antenna height resulting in an antenna height above the average terrain.



Figure 2.2: The service ranges in blue and red are shown for two co-channel transmitters and the curves are defined by the FCC's rules in [40, § 73.684]. Between the two transmitters, outside their service regions and no-talk zones, the field strength is combined from the two transmitters forming the interference region. These different regions are discussed and defined in section 2.4.1 on page 17.

mitters to different channels. Two transmitters geographically close to each other operating on the same channel (co-channel) or on adjacent channels must comply with stricter regulations on transmit power and directivity.

The FCC published a technical report in 1966 [42] with measured field strength curves and various interpolations from radio and TV broadcast antennas. The report formed the basis for the rules [40, § 73.684] which describe how the coverage area of a transmitter is defined. Field strength curves, denoted F(L, T), are characterised with a time confidence T% and location confidence L%. F(L, T) is the lower limit, so that the field strength is equal to or above the curve T% of the time and at L% of the locations, providing a service guarantee. The curves are normalised to 1 kW transmitters and the chart shows different curves for transmitter heights. The field strength from a weaker or stronger transmitter are determined through different correction terms.

The *service range* of a transmitter is defined as the region where the field strength is above a certain threshold value. For analogue TV the F(50, 50) curves are used, thus giving a region which receives a field strength higher than or equal to the cut off 50% of the time and 50% of the locations. Digital TV uses the F(50, 90) curve meaning that the received field strength is higher than or equal to the threshold 90% of the time and in 50% of the locations. The threshold value for Channels 14 to 51 have a threshold of 41 dB μ V/m, and thresholds for lower channel numbers are shown in table A.2.

Outside the service range, the field strength can still be high enough for a receiver to pick up the signal. The FCC will however not guarantee reception, since the TV transmitter system is not designed to provide service here. This region is referred to as the *interference range* as there is no exclusive TV transmitter operating there, and multiple transmitters can have interfering signals.

Digital TV in the US is transmitted using a modulation standard developed by the Advanced Television Systems Committee (ATSC) known as 8 level Vestigial Side Band (8-VSB) [43]. The transmitted bit-stream must appear noise-like and random so that the frequency response of the transmitted signal is flat [43, 44]. A flat power distribution in the spectrum gives the modulated signal a high spectral efficiency [43], but also makes the TV signal appear noise-like to other services on the same frequency [45].

WBGU-TV The WBGU-TV transmitter is described here as an example from Ericsson's TV transmitter database. Terrain and field strength calculations are shown for the transmitter in the results section to illustrate coverage. The transmitter is located between Detroit, Michigan and Indianapolis, Indiana as shown in figure 2.3. The tower is roughly 323 m above ground level² and transmits with an effective radiated power of 153 kW on channel 27.

The map in figure 2.3 shows the location of the transmitter and the service contour defined by the FCC. The contour is defined at the cut off value $41 \text{ dB } \mu\text{V/m}$ for channel 27. The contour in the figure looks circular, with a radius close to 85 km, but this is due to the omni-directionality of the antenna and the map projection and is a general characteristic of all contours.

²The height above average terrain is 320 m and the height above sea level is 545 m.



Figure 2.3: The location of the WBGU-TV transmitter and the FCC's service contour.

2.4 White space

White space is a term used to describe frequencies which are available for alternative uses at some time and location. As noted in the introduction, frequency blocks or channels were previously allocated through exclusive licenses where the licensee or primary user used the channel in the whole country or region. Examples include the aeronautical radio navigation band from 960 - 125 MHz, 3500 - 3600 MHz is reserved for radio location services, 88 - 108 MHz FM radio broadcasting and 28 - 29.7 MHz for radio amateurs [46].

The Electronic Communications Committee within the European Conference of Postal and Telecommunications Administrations describe white space in their introduction to CEPT report 24 [8, p. 4].

So "White space" is a label indicating a part of the spectrum, which is available for a radio communication application (service, system) at a given time in a given geographical area on a non-interfering / nonprotected basis with regard to other services with a higher priority on a national basis.

White space is thus frequency bands available for opportunistic use which are

location and time dependent. Mishra and Sahai [12] note that locations where a *cognitive radio* can operate under a set of rules will constitute part of the white space. In [47], Haykin discusses cognitive radios as intelligent wireless communication systems which can learn and adapt to their environment and input. The two main objectives are to utilise the radio spectrum more effectively and provide a reliable means of communication. A cognitive transceiver³ can reconfigure itself and use multiple radio channels, enabling the use of "free" channels at certain location [47].

The idea of white space and the adaptable radio transceivers leave questions concerning regulation. Which primary users need protection to retain their usage rights and how can the spectrum be reused without causing too much interference to the primary users?

The FCC published rules in 2008 governing the use of white space in the TV spectrum [11]. These rules and their application to a proposed system are the primary focus of this thesis.

2.4.1 The Federal Communications Commission's rules

This overview summarises the FCC's rules from 2008 [11] and revisions from 2010 [15] and 2012 [16] which are relevant for the thesis. Two device types are defined; *fixed devices* and *personal/portable devices*. Fixed devices use high power at permanent, fixed locations. Personal or portable devices are lower powered WiFi-like cards in laptops or smart-phones. A fixed device could be run by a local commercial wireless internet provider which use fixed transmission towers, and a portable device could be either a wireless connection point to a in-home local area network or a smart-phone [11].

Fixed devices must be aware of their location, either pre-set by a professional installer or have geo-location capability [11]. The antenna height can be up to 30 m, and the antenna's height above average terrain must be less than 250 m [16]. The transmission power is limited to 1 W delivered to the antenna, which may have a directional gain of 6 dBi [15]. Fixed devices can use channels 2, 5–20 to communicate with other fixed devices and channels 21–36 and 38–51 to communicate with both fixed and portable devices [11].

³Transmitter and receiver

Portable devices are allowed on channels 21–36 and 38–51 [11] and to transmit with a power of 100 mW with an isotropic antenna [15]. If the device is located inside the service contour of a transmitter, it may operate on an adjacent channel to the transmitter, but with a power limited to 40 mW [15]. The portable devices operate in two modes; Mode I or client mode is when the device is controlled by a fixed device which has determined the available channels in the area, Mode II is an independent mode when the portable device uses its own geo-location and database access to determine the available channels.

The fixed devices in these rules resemble LTE network base stations. A LTE system relies on communication between the base stations and the mobile user devices, and for this to work with the FCC's rules they must be allowed to use the same TV channels. The proposed cellular network in this thesis will then be restricted to channels 21–36 and 38–51, providing a maximum bandwidth of 180 MHz.

TV transmitter protection

The FCC's aim is to protect existing TV receivers from the fixed and portable device's interference. In section 2.3 (p. 13) the service range was defined, the area inside will now be protected from secondary users. The objective of the rules is to ensure that the TV receivers keep receiving good TV signals inside the service region, without noticing interference from the secondary devices.

Inside the service contour no secondary device may operate on the same channel (co-channel) as the TV transmitter, and fixed devices may not operate on the first adjacent channels. As noted, the portable devices may use the first adjacent channels with reduced power. Outside the service contour a no-talk region, named by Mishra and Sahai [12], restricts secondary devices a little further. The size of the no-talk region depends on the unlicensed device's antenna height, and differs for the co-channel or the first adjacent channels. These sizes are shown in table A.3.

Other protected services

The radio astronomy and telemetry services on channel 37 receive extra protection even when there are no TV transmitters on the channel. No unlicensed devices may operate on the channel, or on the first adjacent channels [11]. The second adjacent channels, 35 and 39 are also protected unless there is a TV transmitter operating on channels 36 or 38 [15].

The previously discussed TV translator services and cable head-ends are sometimes located outside the service region of their source transmitter. These locations get keyhole shaped protection areas, directed towards the source transmitter to ensure continued reception.

TV transmitters in Mexico and Canada are protected inside the US borders, but in a smaller region. Any foreign transmitter with a service region which stretches into the US will have a no-talk region, as for the US transmitters, but the no-talk region will run along the country border instead of the transmitter's service contour.

Radio astronomy sites are protected through prohibiting the use of unlicensed devices on all channels within 2.4 km of their locations. The list of protected observatories is shown in table A.4 of the appendix. The very large array is a large radio astronomy observatory which can be up to 36 km across depending on the configuration of the antennas [48]. The facility is protected by a rectangular region on all channels.

2.5 Cellular Networks and LTE

LTE is an abbreviation of *Long Term Evolution* a radio access technology standard developed by the Third Generation Partnership Project (3GPP) [49, p. xxv]. This section introduces concepts in cellular network theory and their application within the LTE standard which are needed for this thesis.

A wireless network is sometimes modelled on a plane surface with multiple transmitting base stations, each one of them covering the circular region around



Figure 2.4: The hexagonal tessellation of the plane, each red point marks a base station serving three cells. The cell radius and the inter site distance are marked for the regular hexagons.

it. Since the plane cannot be tessellated by circles, the hexagon, a close approximation of the circle, is used to divide the plane into cells. Each cell can then be split into three sectors and these are considered as separate cells. This results in additional cells, but without the need for more base station sites. Figure 2.4 shows two hexagonal layouts, together with the base station locations. The cell radius, *r* and inter site distance *d* are shown in the figure. In the case of regular hexagons, the inter site distance is simply three times the cell radius.

Transmissions in communication systems are split into the uplink and downlink. The uplink is the transmission from mobile device or cell phone to the base station at the cell site, and the opposite transmission from base station to mobile device is called the downlink.

A cellular network is allocated a range of frequencies for its operation. Uplink and downlink must be separated in either time or frequency, referred to as time division duplex and frequency division duplex. Time division is done by scheduling the whole cell to do uplink and downlink transmissions in separate time slots typically a few milliseconds [49, p. 296]. Frequency division splits the frequency range in two, using one block for uplink and the other for



Figure 2.5: The relative transmission powers of a base station and mobile device are shown with their assumed height and TV interference level. Downlink transmissions gain from high power and low TV interference, while uplink suffers with low transmission power and high TV interference

downlink [49, p. 282]. LTE uses discrete frequency blocks 180 kHz wide, known as resource blocks, and a 6 MHz channel would contain 33 resource blocks. Frequency division could allocate half the blocks for uplink and half for downlink, while time division would use all blocks in each direction, and divide the time between them.

When spectrum is licensed to cellular network operators, the frequencies are in a contiguous block or split into multiple smaller blocks. With two frequency blocks frequency division duplex is natural, reserving the lower frequency block for uplink transmission and the upper block for downlink [49, p. 296]. Contiguous frequency blocks can be divided either way [49, p. 296].

A single user in the network is quite simple to understand. Data throughput is limited by the desired signal *D* to undesired signal *U* ratio together with Shannon's theorem [50, p. 182]. The desired signal depends on the transmitter power P_{tx} and the path loss *L* between the transmitter and receiver. The undesired signal consists of the thermal noise N_{th} and any interference *I*. Thermal noise N_{th} from the receiver electronics is set to 288 K or 15° C [51, p. 107]. For a single transmitter the interference can be neglected, but it becomes important when considering multiple users in the cell. The desired to undesired ratio is often denoted as the signal to interference and noise ratio

$$\gamma = \frac{D}{U} = \frac{P_{tx} L}{N_{th} + I}.$$
(2.4)

The link capacity is an estimate of the maximum bit rate which can be transmitted over the link and can be calculated using Shannon's theorem [50, p. 182]. The limits in coding and modulation in the transmitter, together with the demodulation and decoding in the receiver is taken into account by a scaling factor $\nu < 1$,

$$C = \nu B \log_2(1+\gamma). \tag{2.5}$$

C, the link capacity is the theoretical maximum bit rate for a link with a bandwidth *B* and signal to noise and interference ratio γ [50, p. 182].

Multiple users in a cell Each active user in the cell is scheduled time and frequency resources by its base station. The resource blocks available to the cell are divided between the active users according to some scheduling algorithm, which often take the signal quality into account. Orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) ensures that the transmissions inside the cell are mutually non-interfering.

Neighbouring cells often share the same spectrum, and this frequency reuse causes problems. Users in neighbouring cells transmit using the same orthogonal basis functions, causing inter-cell interference which will disrupt the signal to noise and interference ratio significantly.

When a base station is transmitting to multiple users, total transmission power must be shared between each user and it can be useful to transmit in series to each user [49, p. 110]. There are many different scheduling algorithms, some consider link quality, others which aim to maximise throughput to some of the users [49, p. 112]. The simplest scheduler, known as a *round robin* scheduler shares the radio resources equally among the active users [49, p. 112].

2.5.1 Evaluating network performance

A cellular network's performance must be evaluated and compared to different references, especially when looking at the restricted conditions for operating in



Figure 2.6: The outage probability and cell edge user bit rates depend on the requested traffic in the cell. These curves show the outage probability and cell edge user bit rate in uplink (dotted) and downlink (solid) for a reference LTE system with inter site distances of 400 m (blue) and 5000 m (black).

TV white space. This section will define some important performance indicators which will be used.

In a cell where the path loss depends on distance and the users are spread out quite uniformly, the users farthest away from the base station will have the lowest signal quality. With more simultaneous users, the cell load increases and the user location becomes more important. Note that users with the worst signal to interference and noise ratio are not necessarily near the physical cell edge. To catch both these effects, the *cell edge user bit rate* is defined as the experienced throughput of lowest performing 5% of users. The throughput is measured in both the uplink and downlink and tells us what the worst off users are experiencing.

A related indicator, the *outage probability*, measures the proportion of dropped users. When the signal to interference and noise ratio, γ is too low, the data rate drops below a threshold and the connection is dropped. The radio resources can be rescheduled to users with better γ . The outage probability is the fraction of users with 0 throughput. Typically the outage probability increases with more simultaneous users, larger cells, or when more data is requested by the users.

With a round robin scheduler, users requesting a finite amount of traffic, and

the users are distributed uniformly; the cell edge user bit rate can be seen as the worst user's experience, and the outage probability the proportion of time that the network fails.

The total served traffic throughput is used to estimate the overall network performance, without considering an individual user's experience. A network serving less than the requested traffic is either coverage or interference limited. High inter-cell interference, too low transmission power or large path losses are possible explanations. This ratio however tells us nothing of how users experience the functionality.

Network users' experience is more directly measured by looking at the *median user throughput*. It indicates how well traffic is shared between users and how functional the network is from a user perspective.

Spectral efficiency is a measure of how much information is transmitted over the allocated bandwidth. It is measured in bps/Hz which translates to throughput divided by bandwidth. The spectral efficiency of a cell and of an individual user are considered in this thesis. The cell spectral efficiency is the total served traffic of the cell divided by the channel bandwidth 6 MHz, while the median user spectral efficiency uses the median user's throughput instead.

LTE reference system The LTE reference system is designed to be similar to the system operating in white space, but without the FCC's restrictions from section 2.4.1. It is assumed that 33 resource blocks with a centre frequency of 750 MHz are allocated to the network. The base station is allowed a transmit power of 60 dBm (i.e 1 kW) and the transmit power of a mobile devices must be below 23 dBm (i.e .2 W) [52, p. 29].

Two different uses of the LTE system are discussed in this thesis, a standalone network and a network for offloading. If these were deployed using dedicated spectrum, the performance is expected or required to be comparable to the following:

A standalone network needs to provide coverage and capacity. It must provide good coverage or low outage probability throughout the area, and there must be enough capacity to ensure that even the users with the worst connections get some throughput. Standalone networks require both uplink and downlink to function satisfactorily well.

In an offloading scenario, coverage is provided by a different macro cellular network deployed in different spectrum. The additional offloading then adds extra capacity in either uplink or downlink or both, which can be used opportunistically. Traffic load is shared between the cellular system and the offloading system, meaning that the total extra throughput and the throughput distribution among users are, in this case more interesting than coverage and the worst user throughput.

3

White space assessment

This method chapter presents how SPLAT and the LTE simulator are used. Figure 1.2 shows how the different data sources and simulators are inter-connected, but the different sections describe in more detail how each step is implemented. The TV coverage assessment describes the pixel grid, the parameters for SPLAT and how the simulations are separated into 12 regions. The overlap between regions, referred to as the *maximum interference distance* is introduced, but discussed in more detail in appendix C.

The section on the TV transmitter interference powers and protection regions section illustrates how the FCC's rules are translated to the grid. This results in a mask for each channel, exemplified for channel 21 in figure 3.3. The aggregation of TV power is then described, so that the power received from each transmitter within the maximum interference distance contributes to the interference power in each pixel and channel. There is now enough information to estimate the link capacity of a cellular system. The method for this is discussed, together with the relevant assumptions regarding path loss, transmission power and parameters for Shannon's link capacity in equation (2.5).

Finally the cellular network simulations are described. In network deployment, the inter site distance is important in terms of initial cost and overall capacity. The choice of radio propagation model used in the simulator is determined to-

gether with the inter site distances according to the population density of the pixel. The standalone network and offloading network use-cases are defined, together with different criteria for choosing "good" channels based on the performance of the LTE network. Ericsson's proprietary LTE simulator is described in basic detail with the parameters used for the white space and reference system simulations. Finally, a trick for reducing the number of simulations is used: Pixels with similar interference powers on a channel are grouped together in bins. The LTE performance with the interference power of the bin is then mapped back to all pixels in the bin.

3.1 TV coverage assessment

The TV coverage is assessed for the contiguous states, excluding Alaska, Hawaii and other island territories. The terrain data from the Shuttle Radar Topography Mission does not cover all of Alaska, but it would be possible to extend the analysis to Hawaii and the remaining US territories.

The main tool in the TV coverage assessment is the modified version of SPLAT, described in section 2.2. SPLAT's grid mode is used for the receiver sites, so that the TV coverage can be estimated on a per-pixel basis. The grid is rectangular in the geographic longitude and latitude coordinates, stretching from 24.4° to 49.40° North, split into 400 longitudinal lines and from 124.7° to 66.9° West, split into 300 latitudinal lines. Only grid points on land and inside the contiguous state borders are used, which results in a total of 67608 grid points. In southern Florida a grid point represents an area of roughly 9.3 km by 14.5 km, and near Lake of the Woods in northern Minnesota 9.3 km by 10.5 km.

SPLAT uses parameters for the irregular terrain model. These include values for the terrain's dielectric constant, conductivity, atmospheric bending and a general radio climate. The values are typically terrain and location dependent but this assessment uses the standard values shown in table 2.1. Finer location dependent details are overlooked so that a somewhat simplified but qualitatively correct coverage can be considered.

Ericsson's database contains the necessary transmitter data to run SPLAT, and the example transmitter WBGU-TV's data is shown in table 3.1. Some transmit-



Figure 3.1: The relative, linear radiation power for WPXO-LD a low power transmitter located on the Empire State Building in New York. The main lobe is directed along an azimuth of 135° measured clockwise from true north.

Table 3.1: An example transmitter entry from the Ericsson database.

Field name	Example data
Name/Callsign	WBGU-TV
Channel	27
Effective radiated power (max)	$153\mathrm{kW}$
Antenna height (AMSL)	$545\mathrm{m}$
Location	41.136667° North
	83.906667° West
Antenna rotation	N/A
Antenna radiation pattern	N/A

ters have directional antenna, and their radiation patterns are also taken into account. The radiation pattern for transmitter WPXO-LD is shown in figure 3.1.

In the simplest case, the grid points and list of transmitters would be used as direct input to SPLAT. The result would be a field strength value from each transmitter at each grid point. Memory constraints make this approach impossible, and smaller portions of the US terrain must be calculated independently. If transmitter and receiver sites are separated by more than the maximum in-



Figure 3.2: The 12 regions on which SPLAT is run and the terrain data files. The dashed lines show the regions and the solid grey grid shows the terrain data files.

terference distance, receivable field strength is assumed negligible and set to $-\infty dB \mu V/m$. The distance is set to 400 km and the motivation is detailed in appendix C.

The amount of loaded terrain data is reduced by splitting the land mass into 12 regions, calculated separately. The regions are shown in figure 3.2. To avoid border effects the regions are extended with the maximum influence distance in all directions so that transmitters outside the region's border are taken into account.

The 9392 transmitters in Ericsson's database are sorted by channel and region. SPLAT is invoked on each channel and region so that the irregular terrain model can calculate the path loss between each transmitter and receiver site in the region. Transmitter directivity and transmission power then provide the field strength $E_{k,j}(x_i)$ for transmitter *j* operating on channel *k* at receiver site x_i . The received power $P_{k,j}(x_i)$ for an ideal, zero-gain, omni-directional antenna is then determined by

$$P_{k,i}(x_i)[dBm] = E_{k,i}(x_i)[dB\,\mu V/m] - 20\,\log_{10}f_i + 42.7809 \tag{3.1}$$

where f_j is the frequency in Hz of transmitter j.
3.2 Assessing TV interference levels and protection regions

The TV interference levels and protection regions are assessed using a set of Matlab scripts. Each channel has different protected areas requiring channel specific masks. The service contour and no-talk regions, depicted in figure 2.2 must now be translated to the pixel grid from the SPLAT simulations. Figure 3.3 shows the protected pixels on channel 21 as an example. Each transmitter's service contour, retrieved from the FCC [19] defines a polygon, and the pixels inside are marked as protected for co-channel operation and on the first adjacent channels.

The no-talk region outside a transmitter's service contour depends on the height above average terrain of the unlicensed device [16, p. 7]. In the LTE simulations, base stations are deployed on 30 m towers on flat ground, which would require a no-talk region of 14.3 km on co-channel operation and 1.8 km on adjacent channel operation. The adjacent channel no-talk region is neglected since the pixel grid is too coarse to resolve the difference. The co-channel no-talk region corresponds to roughly an extra pixel outside the service contour, but has also been neglected.

In the presentation of the FCC's rules in section 2.4.1, a low power option for mobile devices allowed their operation inside the protected contour on a TV transmitter's adjacent channels. These transmissions would allow for device-to-device communication or indoor WiFi-like routers to operate at short ranges in TV white space. High power TV transmitters on adjacent channels could cause problems to devices, since the allowed power leakage from the TV transmitters is quite high. Channel selectivity of these other devices would have to be good. These deployment ideas are not examined further in this thesis, but offer possible alternative reuses of available frequencies.

The radio astronomy observatories are protected on all channels, but since their protection region is small compared to the pixel size, the closest pixel is marked as protected. This grants a larger protection area, but will not contribute significantly to the overall protection. All pixels inside the longitude-latitude box protecting the very large array are marked as protected. The transmitters across the borders to Canada and Mexico are given a protection distance of 14.4 km from the border since the service contours of these transmitters are not available.



Figure 3.3: Protected pixels on channel 21.

Table 3.2: The adjacent channel leakage ratio (ACLR) for the *n*-th adjacent channel in dB for the TV transmitters is regulated by the FCC [53].

п	TV transmitter [dB]
0	∞
1	75.9
2	110

3.2.1 Aggregation of received TV signals

The total interference power in each pixel on each channel is determined by taking all the TV transmitters within the maximum interference distance into account. Neither the transmitters nor the device experiencing the interference has perfect amplification or filtering, so some energy leaking from adjacent channels must be taken into account. The *n*-th adjacent channels $(N \pm n)$ to channel N will have adjacent channel interference ratios (ACIR) which take both the transmitter's and receiver's filters and amplifiers into account.

The TV transmitter's adjacent channel leakage ratio (ACLR) is regulated by the FCC [53]. Table 3.2 tells us that a transmitter must dampen any power leaking into the first adjacent channels by 75.9 dB, and the second adjacent channels by 110 dB. Base stations and mobile devices have different requirements for their adjacent channel selectivity (ACS), and these are defined for 5 MHz and 10 MHz

Table 3.3: The adjacent channel selectivity (ACS) for the *n*-th adjacent channels in dB for mobile devices [52, p. 82] and base stations [54, p. 43, p. 46].

п	Base station [dB]	Mobile device [dB]
0	∞	00
1	46	33
2	54	37

channels [52, 54] and are assumed to work similarly for 6 MHz channels.

The combined adjacent channel selectivity and adjacent channel leakage ratio gives us the adjacent channel interference ratio in the linear domain

$$r_{\rm ACIR} = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{r_{\rm ACS}} + \frac{1}{r_{\rm ACLR}}}.$$
(3.2)

The values from tables 3.2 and 3.3 assert that the adjacent channel selectivity will dominate. To keep the aggregation of received power simple, the two effects are separated. This can be understood as first calculating the power received using a perfect filter, as if the adjacent channel selectivity was infinite and after this intermediate step, calculating the power received by an imperfect filter, from a perfect transmitter.

The first step will add the contributions from all transmitters influencing a pixel on a certain channel. A simple idea would be to sum the powers in the linear domain, scaling adjacent channel powers with the correct adjacent channel leakage ratio:

$$I_{k}(x_{i}) = \sum_{m \in \kappa(k)} P_{m}(x_{i}) + \sum_{c=-n}^{n} \frac{1}{r_{\text{ACLR}}(c)} \sum_{l \in \kappa(k+c)} P_{l}(x_{i})$$

$$\kappa(j) = \{\text{Transmitters on channel } j\}$$
(3.3)

The received power levels $P_m(x_i)$ are random variables, and the distribution of the interference power $I_k(x_i)$ is of interest. The value in dBm calculated by SPLAT is seen as the mean of a normal distribution with a standard deviation of 5.5 dB [32, p. 47]. The distribution of $I_k(x_i)$ is the sum of powers, each following a log-normal distribution.

The aggregation of received powers is now reduced to finding the distribution of a sum of log-normal random variables. Different approximation methods for

this have been proposed [55–57], but for this application a Monte-Carlo method is used. Each of the received powers $P_j(x_i)$ is combined with its corresponding dampening from the adjacent channel leakage ratio to form a normal distribution in the logarithmic domain. The set of distributions at pixel x_i is sampled, converted to the linear domain, summed and then converted back to the logarithmic domain. The process is repeated N times. The N samples of $I_k(x_i)$ are then used to approximate the mean and standard deviation in the logarithmic domain of the interference power, which is assumed to be log-normally distributed. N = 10000 samples result in an approximation of the TV interference distribution. The stability with regard to the number of samples N is discussed in appendix D.

The interference level depends on the height of the receiving antenna, just as depicted in figure 2.5. In the Okumura-Hata model [30, Appendix 7.A] and Winner II model [31] the received power decreases linearly with receiver height in the logarithmic domain. To verify that this is applicable for the SPLAT results after the aggregation, two sets of interference powers were calculated, one for a receiver at 1.5 m and one at 10 m. Their correlation and linear fitting is discussed further in appendix E.

Finally in the last step, the non-ideal receiver's adjacent channel selectivity is taken into account. The interference power from the adjacent channels is dampened according to the values from table 3.3 and then summed in the linear domain:

$$I_k(x_i)' = I_k(x_i) + \sum_{c=-n}^n \frac{1}{r_{ACS}(c)} I_{k+c}(x_i)$$
(3.4)

An error source introduced by this separation of adjacent channel leakage and selectivity calculations will be comparable in size to the product of the adjacent channel selectivity and the adjacent channel interference ratio. This product ensures that the largest contribution from a transmitter on the third adjacent channel will be 33 dB lower than the contribution from the second adjacent channel. Modelling the leakage and selectivity, only the first two adjacent channels are accounted for, which is an approximation in itself. When adding this small contribution in power from channels further away, the model comes closer to the physical reality.

When comparing $I_k(x_i)'$ to the environment, it can be useful to note that the ther-

mal noise present in a 6 MHz wide TV channel is $N_{th} = -106.22 \text{ dBm}^1$. The received power at the edge of the service contour is $41 \text{ dB } \mu\text{V/m} \simeq -90 \text{ dBm}$.

The observed interference powers range from below -180 dBm to nearly 0 dBm, and are shown in figure 3.7 for channel 21 and then discussed in detail in the results chapter. For low interference power, typically when the interference power is below -126.22 dBm (1% of the thermal noise), there should be little or no influence on secondary users.

The interference power is determined by assuming an omnidirectional receiver antenna. For a mobile device this will typically be the case, and is assumed in the later LTE simulations. Base stations however often use directional antenna with a single site serving three or more sectors. The interference power will be directional, coming from the contributing TV transmitter so different base stations at the same site will see varying levels of interference. These aspects are not considered, but could raise or lower the interference power received from different directions.

3.2.2 Link capacity estimates

Interference power and background noise are combined as the undesired signal in equation (2.4). The desired signal is constructed using the transmitted power and the path loss to a receiver at distance *d*. Each pixel x_i will then have a signal to interference and noise ratio $\gamma_k(x_i, d)$ on channel *k* will thus depend on the interference power $I_k(x_i)'$ and also the path loss $L(x_i, d)$. Location x_i dependence of the path loss reflects different pixel's deployment scenarios, which in turn depend on the population density. The distance between the receiver and transmitter *d*, is used to place a user somewhere in a fictive cell, either on the cell edge or closer inside the cell.

The Third Generation Partnership Project (3GPP) set some default parameters for determining the baseline link capacity [51]. A theoretical Shannon capacity in equation (2.5) is limited by the attenuation factor ν , which is set to 0.4 in the uplink and 0.6 in the downlink [51]. Modem throughput and decoding limitations are considered by setting a minimum γ of -10 dB, and a maximum throughput of 2.0 bps/Hz in uplink and 4.4 bps/Hz in downlink [51]. The link's

 $^{{}^{1}}N_{th} = B k_B T$, where B = 6 MHz, $k_B = 1.3806488 \cdot 10^{-23} \text{ W/Hz/K}$ [58] and $T = 15^{\circ} \text{ C}$.



Figure 3.4: The link capacity of a 6 MHz channel in uplink and downlink as a function of signal to interference and noise ratio γ . Both the uplink and downlink have no throughput for $\gamma < -10$ dB and reach their maximum throughput at roughly $\gamma = 15$ dB for the uplink and $\gamma \simeq 22$ dB in downlink. Shannon's theoretical upper limit ($\nu = 1$) for a noisy channel is shown as a dashed line.

total bandwidth is set to 6 MHz.

The FCC's rules and the parameters from 3GPP allow us to estimate the throughput of a LTE system operating in the available white space. In the downlink, the base station can transmit with 1 W [15] and in uplink the power is limited to 100 mW [15]. Figure 3.4 shows the link capacity under these assumptions in uplink and downlink, compared to the theoretical Shannon limit ($\nu = 1$) for different interference powers.

3.3 Cellular network capacity estimation

The cellular network operating in the white space will be simulated using Ericsson's proprietary state of the art LTE simulator. In this thesis, the focus is the general characteristics of the network, and evaluating this over the entire US. Two use-cases, previously mentioned, will be considered; the deployment of a Table 3.4: Each grid pixel is grouped into one of the four scenarios, based on the population density of the pixel. The inter site distance of each scenario is listed together with the proportion of pixels in each scenario.

	Population density [km ⁻²]	Inter site distance [m]	%-age of pixels
Dense urban	> 1000	400	1.9
Urban	500 < 1000	600	1.9
Suburban	100 < 500	1800	14.6
Rural	< 100	5000	81.6

standalone cellular network operating in the TV white space, and an offloading network which provides opportunistic capacity to an existing network without the need to guarantee coverage.

3.3.1 Population density based deployment

Base station deployment is constrained by cost, so the density of base stations is often chosen to reflect on the population density of the area. With more users present, there is more potential profit, so it is logical to add capacity. The US population density is available from the 2010 census and provides a density for each county, together with the county's shape. All pixels in a county are assigned the same population density of the county. Four deployment scenarios; "dense urban", "urban", "suburban" and "rural" are assigned to pixels based on the population densities shown in table 3.4, and their geographic locations are shown in figure 3.5. Inter site distances of the cells and the propagation models are set from the assigned scenario. There are few references to the choice of the inter site distances and the ranges of population densities, so the values in table 3.4 are chosen for easy comparability with previous results [9].

A scenario reflects the terrain type and the density of buildings, two options which the LTE simulator takes into account by using different propagation parameters. The dense urban and urban scenarios use Okumura-Hata's metropolitan options [30, Appendix 7.A]. Suburban and rural scenarios use the corresponding propagation parameters from the Okumura-Hata model. The deployment can be seen as macro cellular, as the propagation models for the scenarios all assume that the base station antennas are placed above roof height.



Figure 3.5: The US population density for different pixels, based on the population of each county.

3.3.2 A standalone macro cellular network

The standalone cellular network is deployed with cells which are intended to serve the users uplink and downlink needs. Base station site locations are freely chosen, but the density of sites depends, as discussed in the previous section, on the population density.

One of the main requirements of a standalone system is that it provides good coverage, and for this we must define coverage measures. The aim of these selection criteria is to choose channels with a certain quality. It is neither cost efficient nor end-user friendly to deploy a LTE system with poor coverage or low capacity. A single channel with large capacity might motivate higher costs in base station and user equipment hardware, meanwhile if many channels are selected which together provide large capacity, the technical limitations might render the deployment infeasible. Two criteria were previously defined [9]. These criteria measure the coverage and the capacity available to the worst off users, setting a minimum level of throughput and availability.

1. The white space system provides sufficient coverage if the outage probability is below 5% (1%).

2. If the cell edge user bit rate of the white space system is higher than 10% (50%) of the cell edge user bit rate of the reference system the system provides sufficient coverage.

Both frequency and time division duplexes are evaluated on the 6 MHz channel. Frequency division would require two 6 MHz channels to be available, one used for uplink and the other for downlink. The requested traffic on each channel corresponds to 1000 simultaneous users, with 1 or 10 GB/month each. Traffic could be split over more of the available channels, and this would assume an ideal carrier aggregation, where each device supports all the selected channels. Each pixel is considered independently, but the size and relative number of deployed systems is not considered. The parameters used by the LTE simulator are discussed in more detail in section 3.3.4.

3.3.3 An offloading enabled network

The offloading scenario assumes that there is a functioning LTE network, deployed in dedicated spectrum which provides coverage. TV white space is used for opportunistic spectrum expansion when extra capacity is needed, thus not requiring coverage or availability but instead focusing on a significant throughput boost. The deployment could be WiFi-like, similar to a scenario proposed by the QUASAR project [14], but here the suggested macro cell deployment based on the population density is used. These criteria select channels with significant amounts of extra throughput, both overall for the whole cell, and the median user and are formulated with comparability to previous work [9] in mind.

- 1. The white space cell's total throughput spectral efficiency is at least 25% (50%) of the total throughput spectral efficiency achievable by a reference offloading system in dedicated spectrum.
- 2. The median users must have a spectral efficiency (of the achievable bit rate) of at least 25% (50%) of the median user's bit rate spectral efficiency of a reference offloading system in dedicated spectrum.

The first criteria is a general cell-performance comparison, and requires the spectral efficiency of the white space cell to be at least 25% (50%) of the reference

system's cell spectral efficiency. A downside to this criterion is that it ignores the distribution of bit rates among the active users. The second criteria instead compares the bit rate spectral efficiency of the median users of the white space system and reference system, thus selecting channels where the network has managed to serve many or most of its users. Selection criteria for the offloading use-case are evaluated independently for uplink and downlink transmissions. Channels which are good for downlink transmissions may not be useful for uplink, which will be shown by these comparisons.

3.3.4 The LTE simulator

The LTE simulator is static in time. A simulation is setup with users distributed in the cellular system, requesting data in uplink or downlink. Upon completion, the instantaneous throughput of each user is presented for further analysis. The cellular network consists of multiple (21) cells, with wrap-around boundary conditions, so that each cell has the correct number of neighbours and the area is effectively infinite in size.

Active users in the network start by determining the transmission power and path loss to the base stations. The main functionality is shown in figure 3.6, which shows how uplink and downlink transmissions are calculated. Inter cell interference from neighbouring cells is calculated and the signal to interference and noise ratio, γ is updated in each iteration loop. Users with high γ can lower their transmission power, possibly reducing the inter cell interference in neighbouring cells. Resource elements can be rescheduled based on the channel quality of the users, thus resulting in a bandwidth and signal to interference and noise ratio for each user which determines the throughput. Each iteration loop changes and optimises the users' throughputs, but also changes how each cell resources are used. This utilization or load measure reflects how the cell interference with its neighbours, and thus the signal to interference and noise ratio of its users. A stable utilisation value is iteratively determined, so that the inter cell interference is taken into account correctly for all users in the network. The algorithm is discussed in detail in [59].

Once a stable utilisation is found, bit rates are assigned each user. The Shannon theory mapping in equation (2.5) could be used, but more realistic link layer performance data is provided in the simulator. These reflect the performance of



Figure 3.6: LTE system simulator operating in equal buffer mode.

	White space	Reference	
Number of base stations	21		
Sectors per site	3		
Total resource blocks	$33 \simeq 6 \mathrm{M}$	ÍHz	
Thermal noise floor (6 MHz channel)	-106.22 c	dBm	
Path loss model	Okumura-Hara		
Maximum transmit power, Uplink	$20\mathrm{dBm}$	23 dBm	
Antenna height, Mobile device	$1.5\mathrm{m}$		
Noise figure, Mobile device	2.2 dB		
Antenna gain, Mobile device	Isotropic		
Maximum transmit power, Downlink	30 dBm	60 dBm	
Antenna height, Base station	30 m		
Noise figure, Base station	9 dB		
Maximum antenna gain, Base station	$14 \mathrm{dBi}$, ($-20 \mathrm{dB}$ at 70°)		
Minimum allowed bitrate	56 kbps		
Carrier frequency	512 – 698 MHz	750 MHz	

Table 3.5: Simulation options for reference network and network deployed in white space.

transmitter and receiver algorithms found in typical products used today.

The instantaneous bit rate of each user depends on where the users are located in the system, and the average of many realisations is used to find the general behaviour. TV interference acts as white noise to the LTE network, and is then easily modelled by raising the noise floor of the system.

Requested traffic and performance indicators

Data traffic in the time-static simulator is defined by the number of bits per time period and area unit. If we assume that the users spread their data requests evenly over 16.7 hours per day, the number of bits per second (bps) can be rescaled to GB/month. A system with 1000 users requesting 1 GB/month would require the network to provide an overall average bit rate of 4.4 Mbps².

 $^{^{2}1\,\}text{GB}/\text{user/month}$ \cdot 8000 Mbit/GB \cdot 1000 users/(365.242/12 days/month \cdot 16.7 hours/day \cdot 3600 seconds/hour) = 4.4 Mbps

1 GB/user/month and 10 GB/user/month traffic loads are tested in the simulations. A network's total served throughput is an overall performance measure, but does not indicate how well individual users are served. Detailed network performance, as noted in the background chapter section 2.5, is evaluated using the cell edge user bit rate, the outage probability and median user throughput.

In some locations multiple channels will be available for deployment of the LTE system. The total traffic requested by the users could then be split over the available channels, resulting in a larger capacity. If all 30 TV channels were available for LTE use, the traffic could be shared between them.

The LTE simulator is run for each of the four scenarios with different numbers of active users. Two traffic levels are simulated for both duplex modes. Each run of the LTE simulation gives the performance indicators at each of the interference powers.

3.3.5 Interference power binning

Interference powers on each channel at each pixel are within the same range, and consist of the aggregation of approximate signal powers. The exact interference power is not of great interest, since the validity of SPLAT and the aggregation must be ensured with measurements. To reduce the number of LTE simulations the interference powers are sorted into bins. Instead of running an individual LTE simulation at each pixel on each channel, all pixels with similar interference levels on one channel share the results from one LTE simulation.

The pixels are sorted into static bins 1 dBm wide, from -150 dBm to -20 dBm in the uplink case and from -140 dBm to -20 dBm in downlink. Pixels with interference powers below the lower limit are sorted into the lowest bin, and pixels with higher interference powers are removed. Interference powers at and above -20 dBm will result in non-functioning LTE networks and we can consider these pixels equivalent. The lower limits -140 dBm and -150 dBm group together pixels where the interference power is too small to influence the LTE system. Figure 3.7 depicts the histogram of pixels sorted into different interference power bins for channel 21. The two peaks at -140 dBm and -150 dBm show the number of pixels with interference powers below the limit. Uplink and downlink interference distributions are shown, and their peaks are roughly 30 dBm apart,



Figure 3.7: The interference power on channel 21 is shown for downlink and uplink. The large peaks at -140 dBm and -150 dBm, contain all pixels with lower interference power.

meaning that an average pixel will have very poor uplink functionality. The large difference in interference powers between uplink and downlink is mainly due to receiver height and channel selectivity of the receiver.

Figure 4.7 on page 51, displays the total served traffic for different interference powers, and the overall results indicate that interference powers above -40 dBm result in non-functioning LTE systems. When the interference power is below -130 dBm, the LTE system in white space typically performs close to the reference system, allowing exceptionally low interference powers can be grouped into the minimum bin.

4 Results

The results follow the ordering of the white space assessment chapter. First the TV coverage and signal propagation results are shown for WBGU-TV, the example transmitter. This ensures that the output from SPLAT is reasonable, and comparable to the FCC's F(50, 50) curves.

The distribution of available channels and their interference powers are then shown, illustrating the amount of white space available. A map shows the number of available channels, which together with the population density map in figure 3.5 provides an initial feeling for how many people will be able to use the available channels. The distribution of link capacity estimates, using all available channels is then shown as an introduction to the LTE simulation results.

LTE system performance is presented for each of the two use-cases. Overall traffic for different interference powers is discussed, and the channel selection criteria for the standalone network applied. Requiring both uplink and downlink functionality severely limits the number of usable channels. The offloading network selection criteria seem more promising. Total provided throughput based on the criteria is then shown and compared to two different reference systems.



Figure 4.1: Field strength of the WBGU-TV transmitter plotted over terrain. The black ring shows the FCC's service contour.

4.1 TV coverage assessment

The SPLAT calculations provide the receivable power from each transmitter at each of the grid points. Figure 4.1 shows how the field strength varies round the example WBGU-TV transmitter. When comparing this to the terrain elevation shown in figure 4.2, it is clear that the hillier areas block the signal and leave the areas beyond in radio shadow.

Figure 4.3 shows a comparison of different propagation models for the WBGU-TV transmitter. Terrain and SPLAT field strength are sampled due north from the transmitter's location. The service area cut off is at 41 dB μ V/m on the FCC's F(50, 50) curve, so all receivers with roughly 100 km of the transmitters should be within range. Note how the field strength calculated by SPLAT starts to drop outside the service area. At larger distances, SPLAT estimates a value about 10 dB above the F(50, 50). For this transmitter, the interference determined in these simulations will presumably be slightly higher than if the F(50, 50) curves had been used.



Figure 4.2: The terrain elevation surrounding the WBGU-TV transmitter. The black point shows the location of the transmitter.



Figure 4.3: Field strength model comparison for WBGU-TV transmitter. The terrain elevation is shown with the height scale on the right, and the height of the transmitter at shown at 0 km. The figure ignores the earth's curvature.



Figure 4.4: The proportion of locations with the number of available channels for base stations, also filtered by TV interference level.

4.2 TV interference levels and the available white space

Evaluating the FCC's rules for secondary use, and applying it to the grid of pixels the proposed amount of white space becomes apparent. Figure 4.4 shows the proportion of pixels with a certain number of available channels. With the restricted channels available for base stations, 10% of locations have 12 channels or less are available for use, 50% of the locations have at least 25 channels. From just analysing the protected regions there seems to be a great potential for secondary users.

The number of channels with TV interference power for a base station below given limits are also shown in the figure. These power levels are useful when looking at the performance of the cellular systems, for example in figure 4.7. TV interference is considered negligible when comparable to 1 % of the thermal noise, i.e. -126.22 dBm, and lower of higher interference powers indicate channel quality. Figure 4.4 indicates that channels with interference power below -106.22 dBm are quite common, only 20 % of locations have no such channels.



Figure 4.5: The number of available channels, according to the FCC's rules.

The geographical distribution of available channels tells a somewhat different story. Figure 4.5 shows the number of available channels on the US map, and the more populated regions, such as the east coast, Florida and California have less available channels than the central and northern states. There seem to be more channels available in locations where there are fewer people.

4.2.1 The estimated link capacity

Link capacity estimates are derived using equations (2.4) and (2.5). Aggregate TV interference power and the different link configuration options for the uplink and downlink transmissions result in bit rate estimates for the available channels in each pixel. The estimates correspond to the throughput available to a LTE system which provided the maximum throughput on all available channels.

The link is estimated with the transmit powers allowed by the FCC in white space. Path loss between the receiver and transmitter is determined using the pixel scenario, so that an appropriate model is used. The separation distance is set to half the inter site distance.

Figure 4.6 shows the distribution of link capacity estimates for uplink and downlink. A median location has an estimated spectral efficiency of 0.33 bit/s/Hz in



Figure 4.6: The aggregate link capacity for a single secondary device over the distribution of pixels in the US. The device is using all available channels at each location.

uplink and 0.65 bit/s/Hz in downlink. The figure shows the link capacity with the TV interference as a smooth curve, since the capacity is limited by both the FCC's availability and the interference power. The solid lines in the figure are less smooth since they ignore TV interference power but are restricted to use the channels allowed by the FCC. The difference between the curves thus illustrates how much to link capacity decreases due to TV interference. A median location would have an achievable capacity of roughly 120 Mbps when TV interference is taken into account, but could, if no TV interference was present have a throughput of 580 Mbps in downlink.

Link capacity estimates by Harrison, Mishra, and Sahai [13] look slightly different to figure 4.6. They consider all available channels, including channels 2 to 20 which have been left out of this report since the FCC's rules make them incompatible with LTE. Looking at figure 4 of [13] the regional variations in the raw capacity seem to correspond to the channel availability from figure 4.5, the more populated regions have lower capacity. Their figure 4 in [13] is determined with the users at 1 km from the base station. Comparing Harrison, Mishra, and Sahai's results to figure 4.6, the range of capacity seems reasonable; some parts of the US have link capacities near 1000 Mbps, but the lower bandwidth available for the estimates in figure 4.6 decreases the maximum accordingly.

4.3 Performance of the cellular network

The reference network, operating without interference from the TV transmitters is mainly limited by the cell size and the different propagation models used. Figure 2.6 shows how the outage probability and the cell edge user bit rate depend on the number of users in the cell, when looking at dense urban and rural deployment. A real world cellular network deployment would use more of the spectrum, possibly two 10 MHz blocks or more. It would lend more bandwidth to the users and thus a higher capacity, but would not necessarily lower the outage probability.

The question is now if the standalone network operating in white space can provide coverage or not, and how much offloading capacity we could expect from the opportunistic deployment.

Figure 4.7 illustrates the results from the LTE simulator, where the thick lines show the behaviour of the network operating in white space and the reference system in dedicated spectrum is shown with thin lines. The white space system loses all the served traffic for high interference powers, an expected result since the signal to interference and noise ratio in (2.4) approaches 0. When the interference power is below -126.22 dBm, about 1 % of the thermal noise power, the white space system and the reference system have similar behaviour, at least when lightly loaded with 1 GB/user/month.

Downlink transmissions are more robust than the uplink and manage to some extent to transmit the requested traffic for higher interference powers. This comes from two factors, the base station's transmission power (30 dBm) is much



Figure 4.7: The traffic served in the LTE network for different interference power. Solid lines show the downlink and dotted lines the uplink. The thin lines show the reference system, operating in dedicated spectrum. The system is operating in frequency division duplex mode on channel 21 but the behaviour is similar on all channels. Each of the 1000 users request 1 GB/month. The vertical black line marks the thermal noise floor at -106.22 dBm.

higher than the mobile device's (20 dBm) and the TV interference power is lower since the user is only 1.5 m above ground. The uplink transmissions fail to supply the full requested traffic and in all but the smallest cell, an effect also seen in the reference system. This indicates a problem in coverage, where the mobile device's power is too low to function.

The influence of the cell size and propagation model change the performance as expected. Urban cells (green) are more susceptible to the TV interference than the dense urban (blue), an effect only influenced by the cell size since both use the same propagation model. Increasing cell size means that the performance decreases, when a fixed amount of traffic is served in the network.



Figure 4.8: The distribution of the number of channels which fulfil the standalone network criteria.

4.3.1 Standalone network deployment

The standalone network results are presented for a frequency divided network. 33 resource blocks of each channel are tested for both uplink and downlink and the performance of each cell size is evaluated. The cell deployments are then mapped back to the US map so that the population density controlling different deployments is taken into account.

Figure 4.8 shows the number of channels which fulfil the selection criteria for a standalone network. The criteria must hold in both uplink and downlink, and in comparing the cell edge user bit rate with the reference system's the inequality is strict. From figure 4.7 we learn that only the dense urban cells manage to provide the requested data in both up link and downlink conjointly with TV

Table 4.1:	The reference LT	E system,	operating	in	dedicated	spectrum	without	the
	FCC's power limit	s. 1000 use	ers request	1 G	B/month e	ach.		

Sconario	Cell edge us	Outage probability		
	Downlink [Mbps]	Uplink [Mbps]	Downlink	Uplink
Dense urban	7.05	1.08	0.1~%	0.1%
Urban	7.80	0	0.1~%	32%
Suburban	9.15	0	0.1~%	62%
Rural	9.56	0	0.1~%	65%

interference below -104 dBm, all other cell sizes loose traffic, indicating higher outage probabilities. The performance of the reference system, as shown in figure 4.7 is hardly better for the uplink in larger cells. This translates to the cell edge user bit rate criteria, where the white space system is required to outperform the reference system, which in turn is dysfunctional with cell edge user bit rates of 0 bps. It is unreasonable to expect an improved or equal performance with the added TV interference and the lower transmission powers present in the white space system.

The channel selection criteria are nearly always limited by the uplink, which follows from the uplink performance of the reference system. Table 4.1 shows the reference system's performance indicators for the different deployments with their inter site distances. 1000 users with 1 GB/month is a too high load for the largest cells and the low uplink power. Figure 2.6 indicates that less traffic would lower the outage probability for the largest inter site distance. Lowering traffic improves the downlink cell edge user bit rate, but this is of little use when the uplink still performs poorly.

A "proper" standalone network operating on a single 6 MHz channel should contain both uplink and downlink in the same spectrum. This would be done by either time division or frequency division duplex with 16 resource blocks each. Tests with this limited spectrum gave worse performance than the above results.

If single channels are dedicated for uplink and downlink at least two channels are needed. Less than .8% of pixels have two channels or less available, according to the FCC's rules implemented in this thesis. Figure 5.1 on page 59 tells us that about 3% of the population will have 2 channels or more available, so the skewed population distribution is significant when considering the realisability.



Figure 4.9: The number of channels fulfilling the offloading criteria when users request 1 GB/month. The number of channels available is shown as a black line for reference.

4.3.2 Offloading network

In the offloading scenario an increase in requested traffic is also assessed. The channel selection criteria presented in section 3.3.3 are evaluated and the cumulative distributions are shown in figure 4.9 for 1 GB of requested traffic. Figure 4.10 shows different selection criteria when requesting 1 GB/user/month.

In uplink the cell spectral efficiency criteria are selecting good channels, where the total cell throughput is high. Channels fulfilling the criteria, shown in figure 4.9 are fewer than the available channels, but there is little difference between the throughput achieved on these selected channels compared to the throughput on all channels, as shown in figure 4.10. The median user bit rate spectral efficiency criteria is not as useful in the uplink, since the outage probability is higher. In the rural pixels, the median user throughput will be zero for both the white space system and the reference system and the selection criteria simply



Figure 4.10: The total throughput on the channels selected by the offloading criteria. The users request 1 GB/month.

chooses all channels.

In downlink, the cell spectral efficiency criteria is equally efficient, fewer channels are selected, but there is little decrease in throughput, compared to the available channels. The median location would have close to 25 channels available, and the cell spectral criteria would select 19 (15) of them, but the throughput would only decrease from 14 to 13, (12) GB/user/month. The median user throughput criteria is more efficient in the downlink, selecting a small number of channels which fulfil it, and the corresponding throughput is thus much smaller.

The total throughput is calculated when each channel has the same amount of requested traffic, regardless of how many channels are used. Traffic sharing between available or used channels is not considered in this report.



Figure 4.11: Relative spectral efficiency of the selected channels to a reference system deployed in 96 MHz. The users request 1 GB/month.

Spectral efficiency comparison The spectral efficiency of the LTE systems operating on the selected channels will now be compared to two different systems. First, a LTE system deployed in 96 MHz of dedicated spectrum and corresponds to 16 copies of the simulated reference system. The total throughput on the selected channels in white space will be compared to the total throughput of the reference system with 96 MHz of spectrum. Figure 4.11 shows the distribution of the quotient

$$\eta_{96\,\rm MHz} = \frac{\sum_{k \in M} C_{WS,k}/B}{16 \, C_{DS,6\,\rm MHz}/B} \tag{4.1}$$

where $C_{WS,k}$ is the throughput on channel *k* in white space and the set *M* corresponds to the respective selection criteria. $C_{DS,6 \text{ MHz}}$ is the reference system's throughput and *B* the bandwidth of 6 MHz. In theory there is 180 MHz of spectrum which could be used by the white space system, nearly twice the spectrum of the reference system.

The spectral efficiency is not great when comparing to fixed spectrum. Using



Figure 4.12: Relative spectral efficiency of the selected channels to a reference system operating in the same number of channels. The users request 1 GB/month.

the cell spectral efficiency criteria in downlink, we learn that roughly 60% of locations have a worse cell spectral efficiency than the system in 96 MHz of dedicated spectrum. In the second comparison, the spectrum efficiency of the white space system will be tested against the actual available spectrum at that location. A similar quotient

$$\eta_{\text{Dynamic}} = \frac{\sum_{k \in M} C_{WS,k}/B}{C_{DS,6 \text{ MHz}}/B \sum_{k \in M} 1}$$
(4.2)

is defined, containing the same terms as before. In this way, the location dependent channel availability, as determined by the different criteria, is taken into account and locations with few selected channels will score relatively better than the fixed spectrum comparison in figure 4.11. Figure 4.12 shows the distribution of η_{Dynamic} , this practically compares two systems operating on the location-channels selected by the different criteria, where one system has the TV interference and the other does not. Even if this is a poor distribution of throughput, it tells us which selection criteria are best a selecting high quality channels.

5

Discussion & Conclusions

The main objective of this thesis was to evaluate the capacity and performance of mobile broadband system operating in the US TV white space. The FCC's rules were interpreted for a LTE application and the TV bands database system was emulated using pixel masks. This resulted in finding the distribution of available channels where mobile devices and fixed base stations could interoperate, and the device's transmission powers.

The interference power from the TV transmitters was then estimated. SPLAT and the irregular terrain model were used to determine the field strength received from each transmitter in each location. The received power was then aggregated, taking adjacent channel leakage and adjacent channel selectivity into account resulting in the interference power at each location on each channel. Combining the interference power with the protected areas, defined by the emulated TV bands database, resulted in the distribution of available locations and channels in white space, with their corresponding interference.

Finally system level simulations were performed for a LTE system operating in the determined white space. The results from two use-case scenarios indicate how the LTE system performs under the FCC's conditions and the estimated interference power.



Figure 5.1: The number of available channels in each pixel is now weighted with the relative population density of the pixel. Note the axis limits. The decreasing number of channels fulfilling the criteria is no longer guaranteed, since the population density weights change the relative number of channels for each person per area.

5.1 What have we learnt?

The channels available The FCC's rules allow secondary use in many locations, and on many channels. Figure 4.4 shows that there are close to 33% of locations have all 30 channels available, and only 2% of locations have less than 5 channels available. There is a huge location potential here, but looking at the population density in figure 3.5, the population is highly concentrated in some smaller regions. The number of channels available to the population then becomes more interesting, and figure 5.1 shows that only 8% of the population has one channel or more available.

Considering the usability of the white space channels in terms of people, there is less to gain on channels 21-51. There are more and larger protected TV transmitters near the densely populated areas, so there are fewer channels with locations outside protection in these areas. Figure 5.2 shows how the number of available channels and different population densities are correlated. The visible "banding" effect is caused by the protecting the two first adjacent channels of a transmitter, so that a pixel protected by a transmitter service contour is protected on



Figure 5.2: The correlation between available channels and the population is strong. Regions with low population densities have worse TV coverage, and thus more available white space, while regions with more people have better TV coverage and thus less available channels. Note that the colour scale is linear, so that bins containing few pixels appear empty (white).

three channels.

Spectrum is needed where people will use it, and if it is already used for broadcasting digital TV, should it be reused for something better?

Propagation models The choice of propagation model is vital in calculating the coverage of a TV transmitter. Differences between the FCC's curves, SPLAT's irregular terrain model and the new irregular terrain with obstructions model, compared in detail in appendix B are significant, especially in the interference region between the coverage areas of two transmitters. These differences cause significant shifts in the total interference power which a device operating in the white space must cope with.

The interference power The aggregate interference power from the TV transmitters is high. Looking at the edge of a single transmitter's service contour¹ and comparing to the case when the TV interference is negligible compared to the thermal noise² the interference power can vary significantly. The results show us that the LTE uplink transmissions in the smallest cell are operating with a very tight link budget, so that when the interference power is close to the thermal noise in magnitude the outage probability passes 5%, thus failing the selection criteria for standalone operation.

Standalone LTE deployment The standalone selection criteria fail for nearly all locations, mainly due to requiring both uplink and downlink to function simultaneously. Figure 4.7 and table 4.1 show that even the reference system cannot fulfil the criteria when it is restricted to a 6 MHz channel, with 1000 users. Both the reference system and the white space deployed system are limited by coverage in uplink, especially in the largest cells. The path loss from users farthest from the base station becomes too large for an uplink to function.

Even if the dense urban deployment was used, with the 400 m inter site distance, over the whole US, there are less than 10% of pixels which have an outage probability below 5%. Despite the coverage limited rural and suburban cells, the standalone use-case would not provide required coverage since the TV interference is too large.

The sensitivity of network's performance in relation to inter site distance is evaluated by comparing the performance of an identical network, deployed with half the inter site distances. Intuitively, the cell edge bit rates should improve and the outage probability decrease since the previous network is coverage limited. Selection criteria find more channels available, but there are few locations which fulfil the strictest criteria, requiring the cell edge user bit rate in the white space system to be at least 50% of the reference system's. Standalone operation remains difficult even with smaller cells.

The offloading network The less strict offloading selection criteria provide a more promising usage of TV white space. When offloading downlink traffic, the lightly loaded system in figure 4.9 shows many available channels, 50% of

 $^{^{1}}$ Defined at 41 dB $\mu V/m$ which ranges from -90 dBm to -93 dBm depending on frequency. 2 Roughly -126.22 dBm

locations would have at least 15 channels available if looking at the cell spectral efficiency criteria. If we compare the white space spectral efficiency against a reference system operating on 96 MHz of dedicated spectrum 55% of locations achieve the same or better spectral efficiency. The cell spectral efficiency criterion is thus selecting 15 channels or more which can be used.

The median user bit rate spectral efficiency criteria selects channels which are more adept at sharing the traffic among users. Fewer channels understandably provide less total throughput, but the strictest criteria for downlink, when the spectral efficiency must be better than 50% of the reference system's, removes roughly 96% of locations. The remaining 4% of locations could correspond to roughly 4% of dense urban and urban pixels.

Figure 4.12 shows how well the selection criteria filter the high quality channels compared to the total available channels. The stricter criteria reduce the spectrum, but provide a better spectral efficiency. In the uplink case, the spectral efficiency increases from 0 to roughly 28 % by just applying the nicest selection criteria. Stricter criteria increase the spectral efficiency up to about 52 % for all locations, so that 35 % of locations have $\eta_{Dynamic} = 1$. $\eta_{Dynamic}$ is generally higher for the downlink case but the stricter criteria still improve the relative spectral efficiency. It is however, still important to consider that the spectral efficiency often is zero both for the white space system and the reference system.

5.1.1 New York & New Jersey

A small case study was done of New York, parts of New Jersey and Long Island. The region is roughly 100 km by 100 km and the TV interference power has been calculated for 1 km by 1 km pixels. Figure 5.3 shows the smallest possible interference power over all available channels. The central parts of the map, such as Manhattan, Queens, Bronx and along Hudson River have high TV interference, mainly due to the large number of high power TV transmitters on some channels and lower power transmitters protected on others. Further away the best channel's TV interference is lower and potentially usable.

Picture an operator who was to select a single channel to use for downlink offloading. The coverage, where channel use is allowed, and the distribution of TV interference would both have to be considered. For this case study, a com-



Figure 5.3: The lowest TV interference power in dBm on the available channels is shown for a 100 km by 100 km region centred on New York.

promise would have to be made since channels with good coverage have higher TV interference than channels with poorer coverage.

Channel 35 is selected, and using the 6 MHz channel would not require any significant modifications to existing hardware, and it might then be economically viable to deploy it with small inter site distances. Figure 5.4 shows the downlink throughput distribution for two dense urban deployments, one with an inter site distance of 200 m and one with 400 m. The smaller inter site distance system has worse throughput, presumably from an increased inter cell interference and could be improved with a more optimal transmission power. A median user in the 400 m system would get about 7 Mbps when about 15% of users would not gain anything from offloading. The 90th percentile could however get close to 17 Mbps.

Just looking at the distribution is not enough, the map in figure 5.3 indicates that even when using the "best" channel many of the central parts have an interference level which effectively drowns the macro cellular LTE network. Offloading traffic with macro cells will not work well, regardless of the chosen channel. It would be possible to use more channels, spreading traffic between them, but the available channels are not contiguous in this area and would require hardware to support a wide range of frequencies. Central Manhattan is still an area where a macro cellular deployment in white space is not viable. When looking



Figure 5.4: The downlink throughput distribution for a macro cellular network operating on channel 35 in the vicinity of New York, shown in figure 5.3.

at smaller scales, building locations, and shadowing become important. There could easily be small places where the TV interference is much lower than these coarse estimates predict.

5.2 Conclusions

Standalone networks operating in white space have difficulties providing coverage and guaranteeing service to the worst-off users. The channels available for a standalone network often have significant interference from nearby TV transmitters reducing the cellular capacity. Many rural parts of the US have more channels available, with lower TV interference power, but the large cell sizes assumed in this thesis together with the FCC's limited transmission power leave the cellular network limited in functionality. The uplink is more susceptible to TV interference and is thus the limiting factor for a standalone network, and the few locations which have a functioning uplink will most likely be sparsely populated.

Opportunistically offloading traffic from an existing network to a white space system is more realistic. Median locations, with the assumed inter site dis-

tances in this report could provide enough throughput for 12 GB/user/month \simeq 50 Mbps in downlink, depending on which channels are used. Downlink spectral efficiency would be close to .5 bps/Hz, with 19 channels are selected for the median location. The skewed population distribution of the US means that most of the population will not enjoy this extra capacity. Smaller cells, possibly dense indoor deployments would improve offloading capacity, since wall dampening and the shorter distances improve signal to interference and noise ratios.

The FCC's rules allow for non-fixed devices to use channels 2, and 5-20, and small mobile router equipment could be installed in places where extra capacity is anticipated. More permanent offloading could be done with higher fixed base stations as tested in this report.

The limited geographic spread of each channel's usage area means that the devices would have to use the full spectrum. Antenna, amplifiers and so on for these frequencies together with existing technologies could increase costs, which might be difficult to justify to operators and end users.

If a small number of TV channels were re-assigned for mobile broadband use and TV transmitters moved to other channels, the resulting dedicated spectrum would be viable for either standalone operation or offloading. Removing TV interference, and the protected geographic regions near TV transmitters would improve coverage and with dedicated spectrum the transmission power limits could be removed. This would give more freedom to the operator to deploy and tune the cellular system for improved uplink transmissions. Fine tuning would be possible for a white space deployment, but with the added complexity of different channels and protected regions.

5.3 Outlook and future work

The accuracy of the TV interference power could be improved by increasing the pixel resolution. More local variations could then be considered, and it would be reasonable to study a smaller area or region. The number of channels available could be more realistically studied using one of the approved TV band databases. Services such as the cable head ends, private land mobile radio would then receive correct protection, and the number of available channels
would correspond better to reality.

Inter site distances, both the assumed ones in this work and the actual use in a real world deployment need to be considered. The choice of inter site distances determines much of the final result and should be done with consideration to existing deployments. Large cells have difficulty in providing uplink coverage, even without extra TV interference.

If the power of a mobile white space device is restricted to $40 \text{ mW} \simeq 16 \text{ dBm}$ the FCC's rules allow it to operate inside the service contour of a TV transmitter, albeit on one of the adjacent channels. These devices would have to cope with the adjacent channel leakage from the TV transmitter, which inside the contour would be above -14 dBm^3 , and have good channel selectivity. It might be possible to design very short range offloading systems with these parameters. Indoor systems are desirable, since the TV signal, and thus their interference will be dampened when passing through walls. Machine-to-machine networks, or interconnected sensors could also use white space where low data-rates are expected.

When allowing the secondary usage of TV spectrum the FCC knew that there would be a lot of available channels. Part of this spectrum, is after review not as useful as one might first have thought. The existing TV transmitters cause unnecessary interference outside their service regions, but lowering the transmission power would only unfriend TV viewers. One solution is to use indoor systems, exploiting the wall dampening to reduce the interference and short distances which accommodate the low transmit powers determined by the FCC.

³The power at the edge of the service contour is roughly -90 dBm and emissions to the first adjacent channel must be dampened 75.9 dB, shown in table 3.2.

References

- D. Gilstrap. Traffic mobility report on the pulse of the networked society. Technical report, Ericsson, Stockholm, November 2012. [Online] http://www.ericsson.com/res/docs/2012/traffic_and_market_report_june_2012.pdf.
- [2] Cisco VNI. Global mobile data traffic forecast update, 2011–2016. Technical report, Cisco, San Jose, February 2012. [Online] http://www.cisco.com/en/US/solutions/collateral/ns341/ns525/ns537/ns705/ ns827/white_paper_c11-520862.html.
- [3] E. C. O. Gamarra. Low Power Secondary Access to the TV and Aeronautical Bands. Licentiate thesis, KTH Information and Communication Technology, Stockholm, Sweden, July 2012.
- [4] J. Donovan. Wireless data volume on our network continues to double annually, February 2012. [Online] http://www.attinnovationspace.com/innovation/story/a7781181.
- [5] United states frequency allocations the radio spectrum, August 2011. [Online] http: //www.ntia.doc.gov/files/ntia/publications/spectrum_wall_chart_aug2011.pdf.
- [6] FCC auctions: Factsheet: Auction 73, March 2008. [Online] http://wireless.fcc.gov/auctions/default.htm?job=auction_factsheet&id=73.
- [7] B. Obama. Unleashing the wireless broadband revolution, June 2010. [Online] http://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/presidential-memorandumunleashing-wireless-broadband-revolution.
- [8] Technical considerations regarding harmonisation options for the digital dividend, June 2008. CEPT Report 24.

- [9] T. Dudda. Capacity of cellular networks deployed in tv white space. Master's thesis, Institute for Networked Systems RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany, 2011.
- [10] T. Dudda and T. Irnich. Capacity of cellular networks deployed in tv white space. In 2012 IEEE International Symposium on Dynamic Spectrum Access Networks, pages 254–265, 2012. ISBN 978-1-4673-4446-3.
- [11] US Federal Communications Commission. Second report and order and memorandum opinion and order, in the matter of unlicensed operation in the TV broadcast bands. Technical report, 08-260, November 2008.
- [12] S. M. Mishra and A. Sahai. How much white space is there? Technical report, EECS Department, University of California, Berkeley, 2009.
- [13] K. Harrison, S. M. Mishra, and A. Sahai. How much white-space capacity is there? In *New Frontiers in Dynamic Spectrum*, 2010 IEEE Symposium on, pages 1–10. IEEE, 2010.
- [14] J. Kronander, M. Nekovee, K.W. Sung, J. Zander, S.L. Kim, and A. Achtzehn. Quasar scenarios for white space assessments and exploitation. In *URSI EMC conference, Worclaw*, 2010.
- [15] US Federal Communications Commission. Second report and order and memorandum opinion and order, in the matter of unlicensed operation in the TV broadcast bands. Technical report, 10-174, September 2010.
- [16] US Federal Communications Commission. Third report and order and memorandum opinion and order, in the matter of unlicensed operation in the TV broadcast bands. Technical report, 12-36, April 2012.
- [17] J. P. Knapp. Spectrum Bridge's TV white spaces database system approval letter, December 2011. DA 11-2044.
- [18] J. P. Knapp. Telecordia's TV white spaces database system approval letter, March 2012. DA 12-465.
- [19] TV Service Contour Data Points Video Division (FCC) USA, September 2012. [Online] http://transition.fcc.gov/ftp/Bureaus/MB/Databases/tv_service_contour_data/, current files.
- [20] T. G. Farr, P. A. Rosen, E. Caro, R. Crippen, R. Duren, S. Hensley, M. Kobrick, M. Paller, E. Rodriguez, L. Roth, et al. The shuttle radar

topography mission. *Reviews of Geophysics*, 45(2):RG2004, 2007. doi: 10.1029/2005RG000183.

- [21] Shuttle radar topography mission, version 2 data, 2009. http://dds.cr.usgs.gov/srtm/version2_1/SRTM3/.
- [22] 2010 census gazetteer files, counties, 2010. [Online] http://www.census.gov/geo/www/gazetteer/gazetteer2010.html.
- [23] 2010 census cartographic boundary files, 2010. [Online] http://www2.census.gov/geo/tiger/GENZ2010/, gz_2010_us_050_00_5m.zip.
- [24] International Telecommunication Union. ITU radio regulations, volume 1, article 2, 2008. [Online] http://life.itu.int/radioclub/rr/art02.htm.
- [25] Federal Communication Commission. FM radio | FCC.gov, 2013. [Online] http://www.fcc.gov/topic/fm-radio.
- [26] 3GPP. Technical specification group gsm/edge radio access network; radio transmission and reception (release 1999). Technical report, 3rd Generation Partnership Project, November 2005. 3GPP TS 05.05 version 8.20.0 Release 1999.
- [27] J. D. Jackson. *Classical Electrodynamics*. John Wiley & Sons, New York, third edition, 1998. ISBN 0-471-30932-X.
- [28] S. Zander, B. Slimane, and L. Ahlin. Principles of wireless communication, 2004. 2E1511, Radio Communication, Basic Course - Radio Communication Systems, KTH Department of Signals, Sensors and Systems. Stockholm, Sweden.
- [29] E. Hecht. Optics. Addison Wesley, fourth edition, 2003.
- [30] A. F. Molisch. *Wireless communications*. John Wiley & Sons, second edition, November 2010.
- [31] P. Kyösti, J. Meinilä, L. Hentilä, X. Zhao, T. Jämsä, C. Schneider, M. Narandzić, M. Milojević, A. Hong, V. Ylitalo, J. Holappa, M. Alatossava, R. Bultitude, Y. de Jong, and T. Rautiainen. IST-4-027756 WINNER II d1.1.2 v1.2 channel models. Technical report, Winner II, 2007.
- [32] ITU. Recommendation ITU-R P11546-4. Method for point-to-area predictions for terrestrial services in the frequency range 30 MHz to 3000 MHz. Technical report, ITU, November 2009.

- [33] A.G. Longley and P.L. Rice. Prediction of tropospheric radio transmission loss over irregular terrain. a computer method. Technical report, DTIC Document, 1968.
- [34] P. L. Rice, A. G. Longley, K. A. Norton, and A. P. Barsis. Transmission loss predictions for tropospheric communication circuits. Technical report, Central Radio Propagation Laboratory, National Bureau of Standards, May 1965. Technical note 101.
- [35] ITS | ITM, 2012. [Online] http://www.its.bldrdoc.gov/resources/radio-propagation-software/itm/itm.aspx.
- [36] G. A. Hufford. Memorandum to: Users of the ITS Irregular Terrain Model, January 1985. [Online] http://www.its.bldrdoc.gov/media/35854/Hufford_1985_Memo.pdf.
- [37] S. E. Shumate. Longley-Rice and ITU-P. 1546 combined: A new international terrain-specific propagation model. In *Vehicular Technology Conference Fall (VTC 2010-Fall), 2010 IEEE 72nd,* pages 1–5. IEEE, 2010. doi: 10.1109/VETECF.2010.5594342.
- [38] J. A. Magliacane. SPLAT! A Terrestrial RF Path Analysis Application for Linux/Unix, March 2011. [Online] http://www.gsl.net/kd2bd/splat.html.
- [39] J. A. Magliacane. SPLAT! An RF Signal Propagation, Loss And Terrain analysis tool. KD2BD Software, February 2011. Software manual.
- [40] US National Archives and Records Administration. Code of Federal Regulations, Title 47 - Telecommunication, Chapter I - Federal Communications Commission, 2011.
- [41] Wireless medical telemetry service (WMTS), November 2011. [Online] http://www.fcc.gov/encyclopedia/wireless-medical-telemetry-service-wmts.
- [42] J. Damelin, W. A. Daniel, H. Fine, and G. V. Waldo. Development of VHF and UHF propagation curves for TV and FM broadcasting. Technical report, FCC, September 1966. Reprint from May 1974.
- [43] W. Bretl, W. R. Meintel, G. Sgrignoli, X. Wang, S. M. Weiss, and K. Salehian. ATSC RF, modulation, and transmission. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 94(1):44–59, 2006.
- [44] D. Sparano. What exactly is 8-VSB anyway?, 2000. [Online] http://www.broadcast.net/~sbe1/8vsb/8vsb.htm.

- [45] R. Tandra and A. Sahai. Is interference like noise when you know its codebook? In *Information Theory*, 2006 IEEE International Symposium on, pages 2220–2224. IEEE, 2006.
- [46] FCC online table of frequency allocations, May 2012. [Online] http://transition.fcc.gov/oet/spectrum/table/fcctable.pdf.
- [47] S. Haykin. Cognitive radio: brain-empowered wireless communications. Selected Areas in Communications, IEEE Journal on, 23(2):201–220, Feb. 2005. ISSN 0733-8716. doi: 10.1109/JSAC.2004.839380.
- [48] NRAO very large array: Overview, September 2008. [Online] http://www.vla.nrao.edu/genpub/overview/.
- [49] E. Dahlman, S. Parkvall, J. Sköld, and P. Beming. *3G Evolution: HSPA and LTE for mobile broadband*. Academic Press, first edition, 2007.
- [50] D. J. C. MacKay. *Information theory, inference and learning algorithms*. Cambridge university press, fourth edition, September 2003.
- [51] 3GPP. Technical specification group radio access network; evolved universal terrestrial radio access (E-UTRA); radio frequency (RF) system scenarios. Technical report, 3rd Generation Partnership Project, May 2011. 3GPP Technical report 36.942 V10.2.0.
- [52] 3GPP. LTE; evolved universal terrestrial radio access (E-UTRA); user equipment (UE) radio transmission and reception. Technical report, 3rd Generation Partnership Project, July 2012. 3GPP Technical specification 36.101 V10.7.0 (Release 10).
- [53] Digital television table of allotments, §73.622 (h), November 2002. [Online] http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2010-title47-vol4/pdf/CFR-2010-title47-vol4-sec73-622.pdf.
- [54] 3GPP. Technical specification group radio access network; evolved universal terrestrial radio access (E-UTRA); base station (bs) radio transmission and reception. Technical report, 3rd Generation Partnership Project, April 2008. 3GPP Technical report 36.804 V1.2.0 (Release 8).
- [55] M. Aljuaid and H. Yanikomeroglu. A cumulant-based characterization of the aggregate interference power in wireless networks. In *Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC 2010-Spring), 2010 IEEE 71st,* pages 1–5, may 2010. doi: 10.1109/VETECS.2010.5493638.

- [56] S. C. Schwartz and Y. S. Yeh. On the distribution function and moments of power sums with log-normal components. *Bell System Technical Journal*, 61 (7):1441–1462, 1982.
- [57] L. Fenton. The sum of log-normal probability distributions in scatter transmission systems. *Communications Systems, IRE Transactions on,* 8(1): 57–67, 1960.
- [58] 2010 codata recommended values: Boltzmann constant, 2010. [Online] http://physics.nist.gov/cgi-bin/cuu/Value?k.
- [59] I. Siomina, A. Furuskär, and G. Fodor. A mathematical framework for statistical QoS and capacity studies in OFDM networks. In *Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications, 2009 IEEE 20th International Symposium on*, pages 2772–2776. IEEE, 2009. [Online] http://www.gfodor.iblogger.org/upload/conference/QoS-PIMRC2009.pdf.
- [60] Section 73.603 numerical designation of television channels, November 2011. [Online] http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2011-title47-vol4/xml/CFR-2011-title47-vol4-sec73-603.xml.
- [61] S. E. Shumate. NTIA releases updated version 7.0 of the Longley-Rice Irregular Terrain Model. *IEEE Broadcasting Technology Society Newsletter*, 15(3):20–22, 2007. ISSN 1067-490X.
- [62] S. E. Shumate. An error in diffraction calculation in the ITM? IEEE Broadcasting Technology Society Newsletter, 19(1):20–21, 2011. ISSN 1067-490X.
- [63] S. E. Shumate. More on Longley-Rice: Error codes decoded, out-of-date instructions, and an updated free wrap-around. *IEEE Broadcasting Technology Society Newsletter*, 15(4):18–21, 2007. ISSN 1067-490X.
- [64] S. E. Shumate. On replacing a 30-year-old temporary patch in Longley-Rice. *IEEE Broadcasting Technology Society Newsletter*, 16(1):16–18, 2008. ISSN 1067-490X.
- [65] S. E. Shumate. Longley-Rice and the Irregular Terrain Model. *IEEE Broadcasting Technology Society Newsletter*, 16(2):22–23, 2008. ISSN 1067-490X.
- [66] S. E. Shumate. The Irregular Terrain Model (ITM) averaging system. IEEE Broadcasting Technology Society Newsletter, 16(3):19–21, 2008. ISSN 1067-490X.

- [67] S. E. Shumate. Longley-Rice's terrain irregularity parameter, Delta-H. IEEE Broadcasting Technology Society Newsletter, 16(4):23–25, 2008. ISSN 1067-490X.
- [68] S. E. Shumate. Longley-Rice's faulty subroutines, part 1: Z1SQ1. IEEE Broadcasting Technology Society Newsletter, 17(1):16–17, 2009. ISSN 1067-490X.
- [69] S. E. Shumate. Longley-Rice's faulty subroutines, part 2: dlthx:. IEEE Broadcasting Technology Society Newsletter, 17(3):26–27, 2009. ISSN 1067-490X.
- [70] S. E. Shumate. Longley-Rice's faulty subroutines, part 3: Log vs. In confusion. *IEEE Broadcasting Technology Society Newsletter*, 17(4):26, 2009. ISSN 1067-490X.
- [71] S. E. Shumate. Longley-Rice's faulty subroutines: Background on the C++ alos. *IEEE Broadcasting Technology Society Newsletter*, 18(1):28–31, 2010. ISSN 1067-490X.
- [72] S. E. Shumate. Longley-Rice's most "complex" line of code. *IEEE Broadcasting Technology Society Newsletter*, 17(2):29–33, 2010. ISSN 1067-490X.
- [73] S. E. Shumate. Testing the fix for Longley-Rice's most "complex" line of code. *IEEE Broadcasting Technology Society Newsletter*, 17(3):22–25, 2010. ISSN 1067-490X.
- [74] Satellite television extension and localism act of 2010 and satellite home viewer extension and reauthorization act of 2004, 2010. [Online] http://docs.regulations.justia.com/entries/2010-08-04/2010-19294.pdf.
- [75] US Federal Communications Commission. Report and order and further notice of proposed rulemaking, in the matter of establishment of a model for predicting digital broadcast television field strength received at individual locations. Technical report, 10-194, November 2010.



This appendix contains tabular data from the FCC used for evaluating the white space rules. Table A.1 shows the frequency range of each of the TV channels [60], and table A.2 the cut-off values for TV service contours [11, Table 1, p. 57]. Table A.3 shows the required separation distance from a TV transmitter service contour for different heights above average terrain (HAAT), defining the no-talk region for white space devices [16, Table in §15, p. 7]. Protected radio astronomy observatories are shown in table A.4, listed in [16, § 15.712 (h)].

Channel	Frequency (MHz)	Channel	Frequency (MHz)
2	54-60	27	548–554
3	60–66	28	554-560
4	66–72	29	560-566
5	76-82	30	566-572
6	82-88	31	572-578
7	174–180	32	578-584
8	180–186	33	584-590
9	186–192	34	590–596
10	192–198	35	596-602
11	198–204	36	602–608
12	204–210	37	608–614
13	210-216	38	614–620
14	470–476	39	620–626
15	476–482	40	626–632
16	482–488	41	632–638
17	488–494	42	638–644
18	494–500	43	644-650
19	500-506	44	650-656
20	506-512	45	656–662
21	512-518	46	662–668
22	518–524	47	668–674
23	524–530	48	674–680
24	530–536	49	680–686
25	536–542	50	686–692
26	542–548	51	692–698

Table A.1: Channels and their frequency range.

Type of station	Channel	Contour cut off $[dB \mu V/m]$
	2–6	47
Analogue TV	7–13	56
	14–69	64
	2–6	62
Analogue Class A	7–13	68
	14–69	74
	2–6	28
Digital TV	7–13	36
	14–51	41
	2–6	43
Digital Class A	7–13	48
	14–51	51

Table A.2: Criterion for Definition of TV Station Protected Contours, Analogue TV use F(50,50) and digital TV F(50,90).

Table A.3: Minimum required separation distance (no-talk region) between unlicensed
devices and TV service/protection contours.

	Required separation		
	Co-channel (km)	Adjacent channel (km)	
< 3	4.0	0.4	
3 - 10	7.3	0.7	
10 - 30	11.1	1.2	
30 - 50	14.3	1.8	
50 - 75	18.0	2.0	
75 - 100	21.1	2.1	
100 - 150	25.3	2.2	
150 - 200	28.5	2.3	
200 - 250	31.2	2.4	

^{*a*}Height above average terrain

Radio astronomy observatory	Latitude	Longitude
Allen Telescope Array	40.8178°	-121.4733°
Arecibo Observatory	18.3461°	-66.7531°
Green Bank Telescope (GBT)	38.4331°	-79.84°
Very Large Array (VLA)	34.0789°	-107.6178°
Pie Town	34.3011°	-108.1186°
Kitt Peak	31.9561°	-111.6117°
Los Alamos	35.7750°	-106.245°
Ft. Davis	30.6350°	-103.9442°
N. Liberty	41.7714°	-91.5739°
Brewster	48.1314°	-119.6819°
Owens Valley	37.2317°	-118.2761°
St. Croix	17.7586°	-64.5842°
Hancock	42.9336°	-71.9867°
Mauna Kea	19.8044°	-155.4581°
Table Mountain Radio Receiving Zone	40.1339°	-105.2444°
Sugar Groove Naval Radio Research Observatory	38.5161°	-79.28°

 Table A.4:
 The locations of radio astronomy observatories

B

Propagation model comparison

The SPLAT simulator, version 1.4.0 [38], can use two different propagation models; the traditional Longley-Rice based irregular terrain model supplied from the National Telecommunications & Information Administration [35] and a new irregular terrain with obstructions model proposed by Shumate [37]. Shumate argues with multiple short articles in the IEEE Broadcast Technology Society Newsletter from 2007 to 2011 [62–73] that there are problems with the software implementation of the irregular terrain model. The irregular terrain with obstructions model is an attempt to update and correct the faults.

Shumate submits the modifications as a petition to the FCC's proposed rule making in the matter of "Establishment of a Model for Predicting Digital Broad-cast Television Field Strength Received at Individual Locations", which is part of their work on the Satellite Television Extension and Localism Act of 2010 (STELA). The act requires among other things, the FCC to [74]:

develop and prescribe by rule a point-to-point predictive model for reliably and presumptively determining the ability of individual locations, through the use of an antenna, to receive signals in accordance with the signal intensity standard in § 73.622(e)(1) of [the Commission's rules], or a successor regulation, including to account for the continuing operation of translator stations and low power televi-



Figure B.1: SPLAT's two propagation models predict path loss over flat terrain. The transmitter height is 320 m, receiver height 10 m and frequency 551 MHz. All path losses are calculated for 50 % time and 50 % location confidence.

sion stations.

Shumate's new irregular terrain with obstructions model was not accepted as a new standard, but remains under the consideration of the FCC [75].

Figure B.1 shows the path loss predicted by the irregular terrain model (ITM) and the irregular terrain with obstruction model (ITWOM). The calculations are performed with flat terrain, with a transmitter height of 320 m, receiver height at 10 m and frequency of 551 MHz. For comparison the free space path loss is shown together with the FCC's 1966 propagation curves [42] often denoted F(50, 50) for time and location confidences of 50 %. The Longley-Rice parameters were set as shown in table 2.1. The behaviour of Shumate's new model beyond 70 km seems unphysical. The irregular terrain model corresponds better to the FCC's F(50, 50) curve at large distances.

C

The maximum interference distance

There is no simple way of determining the maximum range of a TV transmitter. The maximum interference distance was used to ensure that all transmitters which reach a certain pixel are taken into account. Any edge effects which might occur from the regional divisions shown in figure 3.2 should be removed as long as each region is extended to include all transmitters within the maximum interference distance of the regions pixels. Figure C.1 shows how the received power from transmitters with increasing distance falls. The median and mean power approach the thermal noise of -106.22 dBm at 400 km.

Transmitters further away will deliver less power, and are expected to drown out by the interference of closer transmitters. In pixels where the power from these distant transmitters would be significant will have an overestimated channel quality. Thus the available white space will be slightly overestimated.



Figure C.1: The distribution received powers for pixels at a certain distance from the transmitter is shown. The circles with their bars show median, 10th quantile and 90th quantile, while the solid blue line the mean received power. Background noise for this bandwidth is roughly -106.22 dBm.

 \mathbb{D}

Determining the sum of log-normal random variables

In this thesis, Monte Carlo simulations have been used to find an approximation of the distribution of the sum of log-normal random variables. This sum is the aggregate interference power from multiple transmitters, whose received power is normally distributed in the logarithmic domain. The mean power measured in dB is denoted $\langle P_{dB} \rangle_j$ for transmitter *j*, and it has a standard deviation of $\sigma = 5.5$ dB.

In the aggregation, not only co-channel transmitters are considered. The adjacent channel leakage ratio, defined and discussed in the main text, section 3.2.1, requires us to consider transmitters on adjacent channels.

The linearity of the expectation operator ensures that the adjacent channel interference ratio can be taken into account before or after the sampling. If *X* is a log-normal stochastic variable,

$$X \sim \log \mathcal{N}\left(\mu, \sigma^2\right) \tag{D.1}$$

with parameters μ and σ^2 , the expected value of the rescaled variable e^{α} *X* is thus

$$\mathbb{E}\left[e^{\alpha} X\right] = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{\alpha} x \frac{1}{x \, \sigma \, \sqrt{2 \, \pi}} \, e^{-\frac{(\log x - \mu)^{2}}{2 \, \sigma^{2}}} \, \mathrm{d}x = e^{\alpha} \, e^{\mu + \sigma^{2}/2} = \mathbb{E}\left[Y\right] \tag{D.2}$$



Figure D.1: Example Monte Carlo summation of the powers from 4 co-channel and 26 adjacent channel transmitters. The mean power and its standard deviation are shown. This summation used a maximum of N = 50000 samples from the 30 transmitters. Other evaluations in this study used N = 10000 samples. In this pixel, there is one co-channel transmitter with a power of -96.9 dBm which dominates the others at powers below -130 dBm (both co-channel and adjacent channels). The difference between the mean interference after N = 10000 samples and N = 50000 samples is roughly 0.1 dB $\approx 2\%$ in the logarithmic domain.

where *Y* is a log-normal stochastic variable with parameters $\mu + \alpha$ and σ^2 . In practical terms, adjacent channel transmitters are included with a reduced mean power $\langle P_{dB} \rangle_l - r_{ACIR,dB}$ as if it where a low power co-channel transmitter, as this yields the same expected value.

When all interfering transmitters are included each with their adjusted power, they are used by a Monte-Carlo sampler. The sampler takes *N* samples from each normal distribution, converts them to the linear domain, and adds each of the samples, resulting in *N* aggregate samples which are converted back to the logarithmic domain. Figure D.1 shows how the interference power stabilizes with increasing *N*.

When aggregating the interference power for all grid points on all channels, N was set to 10000. Figure D.1 shows a sample point which is sampled 50000 times, indicating that there is only a small difference 0.1 dB in taking 10000 or 50000 samples. These interference powers are sorted into 1 dBm wide bins, and the error of order 0.1 dB will have little further effect. The dominant transmitter in this pixel on the co-channel has a power of -96.9 dBm, while the others are below -130 dBm.

E

Interference power-height correlation

TV interference power at different receiver heights should be correlated. The received signal in the plane earth and more advanced propagation models show a dependence on receiver height. This section verifies that the correlation still holds after the signals from multiple transmitters have been aggregated into a total interference. To minimise the number of simulations the interference power in dBm at the base station and the mobile device are assumed to be linearly related. To verify this, the correlation coefficient of the received interference power at the two heights was calculated on a per channel basis. The coefficient worked out to be 1, with p-value of 0 indicating that the correlation is significant.

A linear fit was calculated for each channel and used in the later simulations, figure E.1 shows channel 21 as an example. Contours in the figures represent the two dimensional histogram of interference powers. The interference power relation is shown for all channels in figure E.2. The correlation is the same as for the single channels, and independent of the different channel's frequencies.



Figure E.1: The correlation between TV interference on channel 21 for a receiver at 10 m and 1.5 m is strong. The linear fit shown corresponds to $I_{BS} = .91 \cdot I_{MS} - 3.2$.



Figure E.2: The correlation of the aggregated TV interference for a receiver at 10 m and 1.5 m is shown, here for all channels together. The interference levels on each channel at the two received heights were sorted into bins and then added together.